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WILLIS FAMIIY as far as found by September 1960

Family tradition is faulty, Eut- it always bears a thread of
truth, The most frequent errors are in-skipping generaticig——
sometimes omitting several generatioﬁs completely--and cor=-
fusing men of the same generatien bearing i&entical names,
When descendants of one couple live in the same vicinity for
five or six generations, or when the same traditions obtain
persistently in widely scattered branchesof the mutual ances-
tor, their traditions are more reliable. In our Willis family
five generations have now lived within forty miles of the "old
home place® of our ancestor Robert Willis near Williston, Seuth
Caroclina, so our traditions are more reliable for that reason.

The following are traditions to be comsidered: my father
John Turner Willis (1850-1931), named for his grandfather Willis,
told me that his great-grandfather Robert Willis "came from Cul-
peper County, Virginia," and that he was "descended from Henry
Willis, one of three brothers Francis, Henry and William Willis
who came frbm.England to America in the 1600!s and settled in
Virginia." He had never heard the name of.Robert'a parents;

He knew also that sémewhere there was a Taliaferro among'his an-
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cestors.

A letter from Albert E., Willis, of Rock Hill, S. C. dated Aug.
20, 1945 states, "I am 81 years‘ old..my grandfather was named
Williamson Watson Willis..eI have heard that owr ancestors came
from England or Ireland and settled 1n Va. from there they scat-
tered to South Carolina and some to Kentucky." W. Watson Willis
was a son of Robert Willis,

In 19é0, John Turner Willis received a letter from Mrs. Jack
Harley, Navy Yard, S. C., granddaughter of Robert Moore Willis,
ancther son of the original S, C. Robert Willis, in which she wrote
that "Robert Willis came from GCulpeper Go., Virginia, to South
Carolina with his half-brother Moore Johnson."

September 3, 1960, Mrs. Alice Thomas, of Arlington, Va., who
has proved her descent from John Willis, will 1762 in Orange Co.,
Va., grandson of John Willis, will Richmond Co,, Va. 1715, wrote me
that "according to tradition, my (Willis) line descends through
William who was executor of his uncle's will in 1689." She refers
to the will of Francis Willis, dated 1689 and recorded in England
in 1791, which is given below.

Among the early Willls records are these:
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JOHN WILLIS was in Graveshead to be transported to Ste Christo-
pher on "Paul", "aged 29, April 3, 1635" (Hottent!s "Original
List of Persons of Quality Who Went from Great Britain to the
American Plantations, 1600-1700." p 50.

HENRY WILLIS had land in Charles River Paris, York Co., Va., in

1638/9. (From notes of Mrs, Gottschalk, genealogist) "There is
due Rd. Evens 250 acres for transporting ..eHenry Willis.. (Va.
Col, Abst, Vol. 25 (1646-1648) York Co., p 352.)

FRANCIS WILLIS appears on York Co, records 1645/6. (See first
write-up of WILLIS FAMILY.) He "came to America about 1735

Va. Hist, Mag. (This is the Francis who returned to England
with wife Jane and left a will 1689-1691,) uOct. 25, 1649,

Ieiuvetent WillM lewis demandeth 100 acres for transportation of

ffrancis Willis his manservant this yeare." (Liber A, folio
265, Grant (280), Marylaxd Hist. Mag. Vol., 7, p 389.) This
cculd have been the son of Henry Willis, returning from being
educated in England. |

JAMES WILLIS was in Northumberland Co. 1651/2 when he gave Mary
Earle, the younger, a heifer, Jan. 22, 1651/2. Will dated 1655.

(Mrs. Gottschalk),
THOMAS WILLIS and wife Mary with their children, appear in the
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Register of Christ Church, Micddlesex Co., Va,:

Mary Willis christened Feb. 23, 1660

Thomas Willis baptized Sept. 8, 1660

Ellianor Willis born Aprill 18, 1655

Richard Willls born Aug. 29, 1656

John Willis born Nove 2L, 1658

Richard Willis married Elizabeth Landon who was administrix

of his estate in Middlesex Co, As a widow Ellzabeth married

Robert Carter, ca 1708. |
THOMAS WILLIS, a Thcmas Willis "aged 28 yrs. oar thereabouts® made

a deposition in favor of John Culpeper in 1675 in North Caro-

lina (N.Ce Col. Reos, Vols 1, p 315)

JOHN WILLIS, in Accomas Co. Deed Bk, Part. 1 1673~1676, pp 277,

280, deed from John and Elizabeth Willis,

A deed recding, "John Willis and wife Jane for and in con-
sideration of the natural love and Fatherly affection which I
have m1d bear unto my son Henry Willis and for divers other good
causes and consliderations me thereunto moving have gliven granted
bargained 80lde.esand confirmedesounto the said Henry Willis a
certain tract or parcell of L:nd containing by estimation 230
acres part of 1000 acres of land formerly granted by patent to
Mre+ Arthur Roblns and by him scld to Hermry Chance of Accomac |

April 17, 1677 by land of Richard Hollam & Samuel Brandford...
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Jane his wife that now is mother of the said Henry Willis." Aug,

3, 1697, signed John (J) his mark Willls Senre Wite: Jno. Wash-
bourne and Henry Custis. (Accemac Deeds, Pt. I. 1692-1715, pp
168/9)

"Wild Cat Island" in Acocomack was deeded to John Willis, Jr,

by ffrancis Nicholson, 250 acres en June 19, 169l;, Deeds 1673-1676 ,
op 50/51

John Willis, Jr. deeded to John Custds Jr, on June 19, 169L,
Deeds 1692-1715, pp 93/9h

» 218, witnesses to a deed were John Willis, John Custis and
Daniel Willis, Febe 3, 1701/2,

Acocmac Co., Va., Will Bke 1, p 17, the will of Willlam Blake
names wife Jme and among other chlildren were Sarah Willis and
Mary Owen. Will dated, Feb. 21, 1692,

Bk, 6, p 285, Westmorelmmd Go. recerds, 261 acres were
granted to John Willis "on Falling Branch of the Rappahannock
adjoining land of John Washington, Oct. 21, 1669.%

Bk. 7, p LO2, Middlesex ? Cos, Vae, John Willis of Middlesex
Coe, son of Thomas Willis had 1150 acres of land (where is not
given),

"Under date of Octe 30, _1,65_6__1_{, Thomas Willis had 300 acres of land
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in Lancaster Co. and 700 acres for transporting 1l persons. In

1693 he had elso 170 acres in York Co. Oct. 8, 1699, John

Willis and wife Mary deed a parcel of land to Thomas Ramsey."
Va. Mag, Hist. Vol., 5, p 22, Thomas Willis was a sides-
man in Lancaster Co. as per deed made 1657. Oct., 1, 1667
Thomas had wife Mary., Octe. 2, 1670 there was a marriagé con-
tract between Mary, widow of Thomas Willis and Matthew Bentley.
The children of Thomas and Mary Willis were Richard, John and
Eleanor. No record of Bentley issue. Thomas Willis had land
on what is known as York Ridge in 1653, and Thomas with William
Willis had land in Gloucester Co. 250 écres, 1665 on upper

braneh of Grave Neck Creek,

WILLIAM WILLIS. In Christ Church Register, Middlesex Co. also

are records of William Willis, giving his marriage to Bridget

Robinson June 1685 and

Isabelle Willis dav. of Wm. and Bridget baptized 21 Mar. 1686
William Willis son of Wm. and Bridget baptized hth Jan. 169L.
This William is believed to have been the son of William Willis
brother of Francis of will 1689 and lived on Craney Creek, Glou~

cester Cw.; Va. (See Will below). But, you will note in the
will of Francis Willis that he bequeaths the land on Craney
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Creek to his hephew William Willis and heirs of his Wody, "er

for want of such heirs," which indicates that Willlam, of Craney
Creek, in 1689 had no child, Wm. and Bridget had a dau. Isa- |
belle, but, perhaps, girls were not consldered heirsl |

A William Willis was in Cxford in 1651. A William Willie aied
there in 1663 and in his will he named a brother Thomas as a
doctor and a brother Jchn. ("Genealogical Gleanings in England®
bty Waters,)

In Ste Petert's Parish records, King William Co., Va., Daughter
Rebecoa Willis was baptized 1729, daughter of STEPHEN and
SUSANNAH WILLIS,.

In June 3, 1735, the will of EDWARD WILLIS, of St Paulls
Parish, New Kent O®., Va, names wife Mary, grandson Daniel
Harris of Hanover Co, and "kinsman DANIEL WILLIS," (W&M 21,62)
RCBERT WILLIS rari Graves! Ferry over the York River, King amd
Queen Co., on border of Gloucester Co., Va, prior to 1738,
WILLIS wills and adme in Va, prier to 1800 (Tcrrencetls Incex)
Index 1s only fer such counties and books as are Irdexed, Many
wills are in other eld beoks and in ©0ld chancery suilts nche shewn

on this Index.



8

Acoomack Co., Va,, Daniel Willis (inv) 1737

Daniel T will
Henry b 4§

1749
1750

‘ _ on down
Berkeley COs «svee Robt, Carter Willis 1783 will
Brunswick Co.~= John Willis will 1767
Culpeper Coe FRANCIS WILLIS (inv)1789
Failrfax Co.  Thomas Willis will 17L7
Fluvanna Co. Willis Willdis will 1782
Goochland Coe Robert Willis inv, 1753 (2) inv. 1767

Elender ™ will
Hanover COsecsescees Edward Willis will
King George Co. John Willis

John Willlis adm,
Elizabeth * will
Middlesex Co, Daniel Willls adm,
John 0w will
Richard n inv,

Thomas © n
Northumberland ..., James n will
Orange Co. John son of Henry

1795

1735

1728 (son of John of

Richmond Co.)

1753 (son of Charles)
1767

1678

1688 de.s.ps.son of Thos.
1700 (son of Thomas)
1783 (desoc.® ® )
1655

John " % John 1715..1762
(John & William Plunkett came to Orange Co. from King Geo. Co.

John Plunkett!s will in Orange Co,

1758

Richmond Co. - John Willis, Sr.will 1715

William Willis inv

Westmoreland COveeee William Willis inv
Bridget " n

| Willjam ® "
York Coe 2 Oliver " n

1717 (son of John, Sr.)
1714

1717

1720

1686/9

Copied from the NEW ENGIAND HISTORICAL AND GENEALOGICAL

REGISTER, Vol, hl, pp 257/58 1s the following transcript of the

will of Francis Willis, wife Jane, who lived for years in Ameri-

ca, but returned to England, where he died. He is purported to

have been named Francis for his father and grandfather.
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Francis Willis of the Parish of Ware River, in the Co. of

Gloucester in Virginia, but now resident of the parish of East
Greenwich, in the County ef Kent, Gentleman, 6 July 1689, proved
25 April 1691.

My body to be decently buried, my executor not exceeding ocne
hundred pounds sterling at my funeral, in costs and charges. To my
loving sister Grace Fielder 120 pounds sterling to be paid in .
marner & ferm following (that is to say) 15 pounds per annum during
her life, or until the sum of 120 pounds be fully paid, which first
shall happen. To Charles Fielder, the son of my sister Grace
aforesaid 100 pounds sterling (in payments of 20 pounds per annum
until the sum of 100 pounds be fully paid. To my cousin Elizabeth
Butler and her daughter Sarah Butts 10 pounds sterling apiece. To
my oousins Frances and Elizabeth Willis, sisters tc Hugh Willis,
clerk, the sum of 10 pounds sterling apiece. To Francis arnd
Christopher Willis, the sons of the said Hugh Willls, clerk, de-
ceased, the sum of 20 pounds sterling apiece. To the widow of Hugh
Willis 10 pounds sterling. To Susannah Willis, t.he daughter of my
brother Henry Willis 10 pounds sterling. To my cousins John and
Joane Lipton 100 pounds sterling & to her two children, Hemry and

Mary, 130 pounds sgierling aplece. TO my cousin Mary Herren, the
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daughter of my Brother Henry Willis deceased the sum of 350
pounde sterling. To Allce Wlllis, daughter of brother Henry,
350 pounds sterling. To my loving cousin Elizabeth Ircnmenger
100 pounds sterling & to her two sons Charles & Matthew Iron-
monger 100 pounds sterling apiece.

To William Willis, the son of my brother William Willis
deceased, 150 pounds sterling, To the poor of the Parish of St,
Fewles als St Algate in the city of Cxford, the plase of my
birth, 100 pounds sterling. And all my legacies, I fesire to ke
paid within 18 months after my cecease.

To my dear & loving wife Jane Willis, the sum of 1000
pounds sterling, to be pald her in the first place, wthin ore
year after my decease, and all the household vessels of platse,
linen & bedding which she brought over with her from Virginia to
England (& other peréonal estate).,

I give unto the said William Willis the son of my brother
William Willis deceased all that land & plantation, which his
f'ather formerly lived upon and held for me, with the appurtenan-

ces, situate on the Scuth side of Craney Creek, containing 100

aoreg, or thereabouts, to him & the heirs of his wody lawfully
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begotten, or to be bégotten, or for want of such heirs, then
to the right heirs of me, the said Francis Willis.

I give and devise unto the said Francis Willis, the son of
brother Henry Willis decéased all the rest and residue of all
my other estate and estates whatsoever in lands, goods, moneys,
cattle & chattells that I now at this time stand siezed or
possessed of in Virginia, and not herein already devised, also
1000 pounds, to be paid him within 18 months after my decease.

I ordain & make William Willis the son of my brother Henry
Willis deceased, sole executor of this my will and testament.

I give unto Mr, Edward Polter, of the Parish of St. Peters, in
the East in Oxford City, milliner, and Mr. George Richards of
London, merchant, whom I desire and appoint to be overseers &c,
the sum of ten pounds sterling apiece.

Witnesses: Richard Jones, Margaret Nicholson, Joseph
Busfield. (Vere, 201)

Since tradition is so strong that we descend from one of the
three brothers Francis, Hemry and William, who came from England
to Virginia, we will eonsider the men named in the will of Francls
wWillis.

From William and Mary Quart. Vol. 5, p 27 (series 1):
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Francis Willis had sons (1) Francis and (2) John Willis, "Gentleman®
of New College, Oxford Will probated at Winchester. He married and
had Frances, Elizabeth and a son Hugh born 1625. Kugh married Mary
(possibly Palmer). Her gr-grandfather was Dionisius Palmer of Essex.
Hugh Willis (b 1625) of Thane, Oxford, graduabsed from New College in
1656, Admons P.C.C. 1683, had two sons Franeis and Christopher.
(Bird Chase. Willis and Richard Henry Willis claim in their "The
Willis Family" p 13, that Hugh also had a son William Willis.)

In the Diary of William Byrd 1717-1721, he states that while in
London in 1718 and 1719, he frequently visited a JOHN WILLIS, whom he
called "Jack;" to whose wife a child was born 17 Feb. 1717/18. On
7 Auge 1718, he wrote: "I went te the Virginia Coffeehouse and from
thence to Mrs John Willis! to dine, where I saw his brother, Jjust
come from Virginia," Mr. Prentice Price,‘é‘Willis researcher,thinks
this John Willis was a brother of Francis who married "Lady" Ann Rich
and Coli, Henry Willis, of Fredericksburg. |

FRANCIS WILLIS named In the will as son of Francls! brother
Henry deceased has not been found, as far as I can discover, in any
other documentary reccrd, unless he was the Francis Willis living in

London in 1711, who brought sult in the following:

Order Bk. 5, p 268, Richmond Cec., Va. Court of May 3, 1711,



Action of detinue was brought in Court by Micajah Perry and
FRANCTS WILLIS of the City of London in the Kingdem of Great
Brittain vs Griffin Fauntleroy appearing in Court in possession
of the estate of John Lloyd.e Judgment was granted said Perry and
Willis against said Fauntleroy and the Court ordered said Faunt-
leroy to deliver the estate as well as cattle, negroes, and house-
hold furnishings in his custody to sd. Perry and Willis and cost
was added to the same,

In 01ld Rappahannock Records, p 35, Mary Fauntleroy widow of
Col. Moore Fauntleroy married William Lloyd before July 28, 1666,
Mary and Col. Moore had a son William Fauntleroy who married
Catherine Griffin. Their eldest son was Griffin Fauntleroy born
ca 1679/80,

Only two sons of this Francis Willis, to whom his uncle left
land jin Gloucester, are known: Francis Willis b ca 1690 who
married Lady Ann Rich and Col, Henry Willis, founder of Fredericks-
burg, Va. HResearch on these two lines has been thoroughly carried
out for several generations down and we do not belong to either
branch., There were reasons to beliéve that our Rcbert was the son

of Robert Carter Willis, grandson of Francis and Ann Rich Willis,
but last year I discovered that Robert Carter Willis married
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Martha Sedwick on Dec. 21, 1776. ("Frederick Co. Marriages" 1771-
1825, compiled by Eliza Timberlake Davis in 1941, p 15) Surety |
Valentine Crawford; Father Benjamin Sedwick. |

In the “"History of Southwest Virginia, Washington Co. 1777~
1870" by Summers, p Lh8: Officers of War of 1812- Lt. L. B. Willis,
12th Reg. of Infantry, recruited at Winchester. In 1850 Lewis
Burwell Willis applied for a pension upon this service and stated
that he was "about 69 years of age," making him born in 1781, so his
brother Robert was born in 1783. Our Robert was born 1772/3.

Also, from the Diary of Mrs. James Nourse of "Piedmont,"
Berkeley County, Virginia,(now Jefferson County, West Virginia) in
the Magazine 6f the Jefferson County Historical Society, Volume 2l
(December 1958) pages 2L & 25: 10 Mar 1781, Bob & Betsy (Nourse)
to christ(ni)ng at Mr. R. Willis'!s. This was evidently the
christening of Lewis Burwell Willis, elder surviving son of Robert
Carter Willis.

So we are not descended, as I had thought, from FRANCIS WILLIS
son of the immigrant Henry Willis, unless it will be discovered that
John Willis who died in Richmond Co., Va. in 1715 was a son of this

Francis and, therefore brother of Francis who married Ann Rich and

Henry who married three times in Fredericksburg, Spotsylvania Co.
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Feeling confident that our Robert Willis born 1772/3 did
éome to South Carolina from Culpeper Co., Va., research has
disclosed that among the Willis men in Culpeper Co. at the time
from 1770 to 1790, one of whom might have been father of our
Robert, there are only two possibilities thus far found: John
Willis married Sarah Thomas 27th April 1772 (Marriages of Orange
COe, Va.) and a Francis Willis who died intestate in Culpeper
Co. in 1789. His inventory was made by John ylsle and Francis
Covingtony and Armistead White. (Will Book C, p 35L)

Concerning John and Sarah Thomas Willis, the following
litigation over the will of John's brother Benjamin Willis will
show that in 1816, he supposedly had only two sons named Alex-
ander and Abner Willis.

A DIGEST OF THE SUIT PAPERS WILLIS VS WILLIS, from the old

defunct Fredericksburg District Court, which included counties
of Orange, Culpeper etc., by Geo. Hs S. King, of Fredericksburg,
Virginia.

1. Benjamin Willis: It is stated that he was considered to be

a rich, old bachelor residing in Orange Co., Va., "near the

River", which separated his lands from that of Peter Hansbrough,
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Sre, in the_County of Culpeper in which County the saicd Ben]j.
also had a amall plantation. The said Benj. Willis died on 16th
July 1810, leaving aLkill which was drawn on 29th June 1810 under
circumstances somewhat out of the ordinary. This will ﬁas ad-
mitted to probate 23 July 1810, without opposition from any other
heir. In 181l Reuben Willis and his sister Frances wife of Wm.
Camp filed a bill by which they sought to upset the will of their
brother, and varieus depositions were taken, but all of the partiles
never came to Court or sent their representativés cr properiy
entered into the proeceedings. In 1819 the suit was dismissed by
the Judge of the Fredericksburg District Court. By this time the
family had scattered widely.

Reuben Clarke, a deponent, said that he knew well the said
Benjamin and his seven brothers and four sisters, and that at the
time of his death, the said Benjamin was about 70 years of age
and that he had three brbthers dead each of whom left children.,
1, Benjamin Willis was possessed of a plantation in Orange Co.
on which he lived, slaves to a considerable number, and a smaller
plantation in the Co. of Culpeper. He was never married. The

following are the brothers and sisters named, and what genea-

logical information concerning each that 1s appafent from the
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sult papers is given below each name.
2o REUBEN'WILLIS, styled Reuben Willis, Sen', a resident in
1815 of drénge(Co;; Va., a brother and heir at law of Benja-
min wiiiisf, dectd, and one of the complainants in the suit. By
1819 he had rémbved to Kentucky and failed to:p}OSecute the
suit further. | | |
3. JOSHUA WILLIS ih 1815-17 in Orange Cd.,'Va., a brother and
heir at law of Benj., Willis, dec'd.
L+ WILLIAM WILLIS in 1816 in Kentucky, a brother anc heir at
law of BenJ. Willis, dec'd. Three of hls sons are némed in the
will of Benjamin Willis irn 1810, viz: |
(a) Captain Isaac Willis of the Ofange~Culpe§er heighbcrhood,
| described as the closést kin of Benj. Willié, living near
him during his last illness and t¢ whcm Benj. bequeathed
his landed estate, many negrces, and the bulk of his
estate.
Capt. Isaac Willis is accused by Reuben Willis and Mrs,
Frances (Willis) Camp of influencing the making of Benj.
Wwillis! will, It was claimed: "Whereas your Orators

and Oratrix charge that the said Benjamin'Wiilia was
intirely incapable of making any will sv as to dispose
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of his estate he being at the time and before the making
the sald writing so purpofting to be the last will and
Testament of the said Benjamin‘Willis of unsound mind and
memory and that he contlnued so from.that time untill his
death so that he could by no means lawfully dispose of his
estate by will or otherwise so that the game 1s descended
and come to his heirs at law who are before mentioned,"
(There are 15 pages of MSS, E.DeH.)

(v) William Willis, Jr., by 1816 in Kentucky.

(c¢) Benjamin Willis, Jr., described as namesake of Benj.
Willis, dec'd., who in 1817 was residing at Louisa Court
House, Va. To Wm, Jr., Benj. Jr. & Benj., Sr. left
certain slaves and they are thns defendants in this suit
but none took any part in the proceedings of the cause.

be LEWIS 'WILLIS whe ‘was 3noﬁher B brother'and heir at
law of Benj. Willis, dec‘d. By 1816, he was re31d1ng in Georgla.
6. FRANCES (WILLIS) CAMP, a sister of Benj. Willia, and wife of
William Camp of Culpeper Co., Va. Her husband, Wm. Camp, died
soﬁetime between 181,~-1815, when it is noted that he is deceased
and his name removed from the docket as a plaintiff in the

cause., In 1819 Frances Camp, widow, is residing in Culpeper



Co.; she is said to have had children though they are not
named.

7. SARAH (WILLIS) SHROPSHIRE, a sister of Benjamin Willis, amd
wife of Walter (Walt, Watt) Shropshire (Stropshire &c) of
Orange Co. They were both dead prior to L June 1816, though
living when the suit was begun in 181k,

8. MARY (WILLIS) PRICE, a sister of Benjamin Willis, and wife
of Richard Price. In 1816 they are said to be residents of

Kernitucky.

9. MARGARET (WILLIS) TERRELL, a sister of Benjamin Willis, and

widow of Edmund Terrell "whom she hath survived he having died

'long before the said Benjamin Willis." Mrs. Terrell was dead

before the 1llith of June 1816.

10. MOSES WILLIS, who died belore his brother BenjaminLWillis,
leaving as his heirs at law,two wons, viz:

(a) Joseph Willis, who was ir. Kentucky in 1816 -

(b) Henry Willis, who was in Keytucky in 1816
11. JOHN WILLIS, who died before his wother Benjamin Willis,
leaving as his heirs at law, two sons:

(a) Alexander Willis, who was in Kentucs; {5 1816

(b) Abner Willis, who was in Kentucky 1n 1ltig,
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12, JAMES WILLIS, living when his brother Benjamin Willis!

will was written on 29th June 1810, but dead by 181l when this
suit was Instigated, leaving as his heirs at law, two sons, wvigz:

(a) James Willis, who was in Georgia in 1816

(b) George Willis, who was in Georgia in 1816

A Mrs, Susan Willis made a deposition in the above liti-
gation on 10th Oct. 1815.

To the Marshall of the Superior Court of Chancery for the
Fredevricksburg District, Greetings:
You are hereby commanded tc summon Joshua Willis, William
Willis, Lewis Willis, William Willis Junr., Benjamin Willis,
Walter Shropshire & Sarah his wife, Richard Price & Mary his
wife, Margaret Terrell, Joseph Willis, Henry Willis, Alexander
¥Willis, Abner Willis, James Willis & George Willis to appear in
the Town of Fredericksburg at the Clerk's Office of the
Superior Court of Chancery....this 3d day of May 1816...

On the back of this is written:
1816 June 1hith, Executed on Joshua Willis cnly. Wm. Willis Sr.
& Jr., Richard Price & wife, Jos. Willis, Henry Willis, Alexr.

& Abner Willis are not Inhabitants, they reside in Ky. Benj.
Wwillis..lives at Louisa Ct. louse; Lewis, Jas. & Geo. live
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in Ga.; Walter Shropghire & wife, both dead. -Margaret Terrell dead
also. The above information is derived from Joshua Willis. Signed
John Stanard, M.F.C.D.

Since there is no mention in the above suit of a RCbert wil1is
as son of John Willis and wife Sarah Thomas Willis, our.Robe;t
willis (b 1772/3) was probably not their son..
| Concerning Francis Willis who died in Culpeper County, Va., in
1789: @according to‘the will of Francis Thornton, who bought much
of the land originally granted to John Willis in Westmoreland Co.
adjoining the land grahted to John Washington, which land was later
included in King George Co., Va., Francis Willis was living on
Francis Thornton's property in 1766, Excerpt from the will of
-francis Thorntdn,\déﬁed 6 June‘i766: "I give to my son William
Thorhton.... sO0 along Murdock's fence to a white oak back of my
log house where Francis Willis now lives so along the Cornfield
fence William Thornton now tend(s) being the Land I gave him when
he Maried Elizabeth Fitzhugh..." Also to son William "swamp
joyning to Joseph Murdoék."
| This will was probated at the Court held for King George
County the 2nd of July 1767, Oﬁ the same day, tﬁe'will of Eliza-

beth Willis was proved "by Francis Willis Executor,"
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- The will of Elizabeth Willis mentiocned above:

'"Tn thé Name of God Amen I Elizabeth Willis being sick and weak
of Body but in perfect senses & sound Memory do make this my
last Will & Testament. I give & béqueath to éll'my loving Gran
Children (viz)'William.Elizabeth‘Willis & Younger Johnson ene
shilling out of my Estate after which Legac(i)es I give & be-
queath to my Loving Scn Francis Willls all my Estate during his
Natural Life after his'deceas to my Loving Gran Daughter Jane
Willis Daughter to my Loving Son Francis Willis.

Elizabeth (X) Willis
Signed and Sealed in the presence cf‘Wiliiam.Chapman and William
Thornton. Proved at a Court held for Klng George County, Va.
the 2nd July 1767 by Francis Willis on the oath of‘Willlam
Chapman

(King George Co. Will Bke I, P 261)

In the list of'early'membérs of the Baptist Church in Barn-
well County, S. C.,near where the town of Ellenton was situaﬁéd,
and of which the Rev. James Wilson who married Francis O;Bahnon
was pastor for about 38 years, is the name JANE'WILLIS. No

further records of this Jane has been found. In Culpeper Co.,

Va., Marriage Records are the following:
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Jane Willis to William Poulter (Potter?), Dec. 16, 1788
Jane Willis to William Hisle, 1796
Charles Willis to Lucy Shelton, Jan. 16, 1794
Elizabeth Willis to Benjamin Leavell, Oct. 21, 1811

In the census of 1790 for Lower Orangeburg Dist., Barn-
well County, is listed Robert Willis with 1 male over 16 years
and 2 females. Although our Robert was only 17 years old in 1790,
he might have been considered the head of a household containing
himself, his mother and a sister;, or himself and two older sis-
ters. It is possible that this was our Robert Willis, for in
1790 he and Moore Johnson witnessed a deed for Richard Johnson,
Moore's father, of Edgefield County, adjoining Barnwell County,
S. Ce

The husband of the above Elizabeth Willis of will in 1767
was probably a John Willis who died intestate in King George Co.
in 1753 and who was the son of Charles Willis and Matilda Thacher.
(See will below of John Willis in 1715). This Will not only
shows that a John Willis was son of Charles,son of John Willisj;
but partly describes land bequeathed to Charles, which his son
John might have inherited.

From the John Willis family as compiled by Mrs. V. H.

Gottschalk.,
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Copy of Will of John Willis, State of Virginia, County of
Richmond, Will Book No.. 3, pp 214, 215, 216 & 217:

"In the Name of God Amen the Seventh Day of June 1715 I

John Willis SenT of the County of Richmond & Parish of Hanover
in Virginia being in health of Body and of good & perfect
Seince and Memory thanks bee to God Doe make this my Last Will
& Testament in maner and forme following that is to say first
I Bequeath my Soul and Spirit into the hands of the Almighty
God my heavenly Father by whom of his Mercy and only Grace I
Intrust to bee saved and Redeemed into Eternall Rest through
the Death of my Savour and Redeemer Jesus Christ in whose
presious Blood I sett the whole and only hope of my Salvation
in hope of a joyfull Resurrection: My Body I Comitt to the
Earth to bee Buried with such Charge as itt shall please my
Exekutors hereinafter named.

I give and Bequeath unto my Son in Law Thomas James and
Mary James his now wife all that Plantation and parcell of Land
whereon they the said Thomas and Mary now liveth for and
dewring his and her Naturall Lives and from & after his Decease

and the Death of the Surviver and longest Liver of them the
said land and premises to belong wholly to David James Son of
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the said Thomas James to him and his heirs for Evermore, which
said Land joyns upon the Land of Mr. John Wormley and upon the
Land of Isaac Arnold and Runing from the Land of the said Isaac
Easter'ly with the Fence of the said Thomas James the Fence
being the Bounds on that side the said Land and from the said
Fence Easter'!ly as aforesaid not toutching any part of my Cleared
Ground to a Line of marked trees being the Bounds of the said
Land hearby given unto the said Thomas James aforesaid Runing to
the Line of John Wormley aforesaid thence along ihe said Wormleys
Line to the Land of Isaac Arnold aforesaid thence with the said
Arnolds Line to the place whear itt Began; I doe also Give unto
Thomas James aforesaid one Young Cow Called Browney with all her
fewter Increase, |

I doe Give and Bequeath unto Mary Cullins which now Liveth
with mee all that Plantation or percell of Land whereon William
Pullin now liveth together also with some part of my Cleared’
Ground according to the trew Bounds and Distances which I have
Lastly given and made Bound the said Mary Cullins her Land here-

by given which said Land joyna upon the Land of John Combes and

also being some part of my Plantation as aforesaid the said Land
I doe Give to the said Mary Cullins her heirs Lawfully Begotten



26
of her Body for Evermore But if in Case Ye said Mary should Dye

without Ishew Lawfully Begotten as aforesaid that then and in

such Case the said Land wholly to return to my Son Charles

Willis and his heirs for Evermore. I Doe also Give unto Mary

Cullins aforesaid One fether Bedd and Sne Rugg which 1s now in
my house and one pare of new Blankitts and one small Iron Pott
one Bell mettle Spice Morter and pestle and one Dozen of Pewter
Spoons which are new and one new pewter Basson and one Bright
Bay Mare with a Starr in tﬁe forehead and a Sprigg taile and
also one Eue and one Lambe and one pide heffer about two years
ould with all and every of their fewter Increase to her and
her heirs for Evermore Butt if in Case the said Mary should

Dye without Ishew then all and whatsoever I have hearby Given
to the said Mary of personall Estate to Returne and bee Devided
amongst ali and every one of my Children Sons and Daughters

And I doe also Give unto the said Mary Cullins One Oaken Chest
and one trunke Which Chest and trunk are to return as afore-
said if in Cese the said Mary should Dye without Ishew as
aforesaid.

I Doe Give and Bequeath unto my Son Charles Willis the
Plantation and Land I now Live on and also that Plantation
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whearon sd. Charles now Liveth together also with all the Land
Contained and held by Pattent or Grant for this tract and two
Plantations hereby Given to‘ the said Charles Exo;epting that part
which I have hearby Given unto Thomas James aforesaid and that
other part which I‘have hearby Given td Mary Cullins aforesaid.
My Will is that the whole remaining part to this tract or Devi-
dent with the two Plantations aforesaid Doe belong wholley to my
Son Charles &‘Mattiildoe his now”Wife for and dewring‘his and her

naturall Lives and from and after the Death of the said Charles
& Mattildoe the said Land and presises to belong wholléy to John
Willis Son of the said Charles to him and his heirs for Evermore.
My'Will'ié that my éonlChafles Doe not‘Sell nor Imbézéll no
timber from of the saii Land But to make use of what hee hath
needfull Ocation of makeing no Eastt,

Itt beeing the Will of my Late‘Wifé'Mattilldoe‘Willis that
my Son Charles Willis aforesaid and Mattilldoe his wife their
heirs &c: should have out of my Estate the fether Bedd which I
now Lye on and furniture Curtains and vallins Rugg and Blankitts
and Boulster and Pillows theirto belonging and four Young Cows

and a Young Mare, my Will is that my Wifel!s Desler bee fullfiled

and that for the sald Charles and Mattilldoe the sd. Bedd and
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Cows and Mare doe wholly belong to them and their heirs for
Evermore togethér with thé Increase of the sd;.cdws.

.And fbr the:femaihing pért of my Cattie aﬁd also ﬁy whole
Stock of hoggs éna Sheep Eicepting one Fue and Lambe hearby
Given to Mary Cullinsvaforesaid and also one heffer Given to the
said Culliﬁs I doe Give to my Son Charles and his heirs for
Evermore T Doe also Give to my son Charles One Small IronvPott
and my least or smallest Brass Kettle, and all the Insewing
Cropp of Indian Corne and the Inséwing Crop of tobacco I Doe
Give to my Sbn Charies and my éon'William to bee Equally
Dev1ded.between them the sa1d Charles andﬁWilllamkpaylng out
of the said CrOp to my Daufhter Sewsanah five hundred pounds
of tobacco.

| And vaying also out of the said Cropp to Mary Gardener
five hundred pounds of tobacco,

‘I Doe Give to my Son Charles three thousand nayles or
theirabouts being all the Nayles that I have in my house.and
also all my powder and Stroll which is in my house My Will is
that for that part of my Plantations which I have hearby Given
to Mary Cullins my Son Charles Willis aforesaid have Liberty

to pasture (round thearin and also William Pullin to have the
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saﬁe Liberty of pasture Ground therein.

I Doe Give unto Mary Culliné aforesald all the Rents of the
Plantatidn which'William Pullin how Liveth on being five hundred
pounds of tobacco to bee paid Dewly and Yeariy Dewring the term
of his lLeace which is Nine Years from ye Date hearof and One
Years Rent which.is not yett paid but Remains Due being Iive
hundred pounds of tobacco, which tenn Years Rents I doe Cive +o
Mary Cullins aforesaid and her heirs for Evermore Butt i~ :are
she should Dye without Ishew the Rents or tobacco to Retwit o
all and every one of my chilldren and to bee Equally Device .
amongst them all Sons and Daughters.

My will is that Isaac Arnold and William Willis as Gucr-ians
to the said Mary Cullins doe Look after and are hearby Imzciizizd
to Look after and see that William Pul1in aforesaid his heirs
&c: Doe take into his cosdotie and his or their Care all ths
tobacco Stock Goods and Moveables whatsoever hearby Given unto
Mary Cullins and that hee or they Doe trewly pay and Deliver all

such tobacco and Goods and Stock the vallew of such Goods end
Stock in tobacco unto her the said Mary Cullins when she shell

arive to the age of Sixteen or att the first Day of Marriage if

maried before Sixteen and further if in case the 22id Willisn
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Pullin his heirs &c: shall neglect or Delay the payment of such
tobacco Stock and Goods when the same shall become Dew that the
same to bee taken out of his hands by the Guardians and they to
see that shee the said Mary hath the same trewly and honestly
paid her.

My Will is that what Goods and Moveables Soe Ever and all
other things that apertains to my Estate and is not yett Dis-
posed of by this my Last'Will and Testament Goods pewter Brass
and Iron 'and all other things their to Belonging bee Equally
Devided amongst all and Everyone of my children aﬁd Daughters
Each to have an Equall part thereof.

I Doe make and Opoint my Loving Son Johanillis and Isaac
Arnold my Exekutors of this my Last Will and Testament and in
Confirmation whereof I have hereunto sett'my hahd and fixt my

Seale the Day Month and Year first above wrighten.

the mark of
~ SEAL
John /[ Willis
Signed Sealed and
delivered in the presence of us. (The name of the child has
Thot: Parker also been read as "“"Mary

Auvgustine (X) Blake Cussins,!)
Elliner {c) Welsh
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This Will was proved in Richmond County Court the Sixth Day

of July 1715 by the Oaihs of Thomas Parker Augustine Blake and
Ellinor Welsh witnesses thereto, and Admitted to Record.
Test
- M: Beckwith Cl: Cur.

The above John Willis, Senr. died in what is now King
George County, Virginia, but was before 1721 a part of Richmond
Co. There were several parishés in King George Co., and the
boundaries of this county were altered several times, both by
additions and by the cutting off of areas for new counties.
Richmond Co. was farmed as a jurisdictional Court in 1692 from
0ld Rapbahannock County, when this older Court was divided into
two counties, Essex and Richmond, and the name Rappahannock was
dropped. Later another county was given this name but it lies
in a different section of the State. Rappahannock Co. records
are now at Tappahannock,,Esséx Co., Va. | |

John Willis Sr. patented land on Oct. 21, 1669 next to land
patented to John Washington which now lies in Hanover Parish,
King George Co., Va. This is referred to in a deed made by'his
grandson (Order Bk. I, p 607, -King Geo. Co., Va.;1729-30).

In his will he mentions "Land by patent and by grant," hence
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he had other lands besides the above patent which was for
261 acres on the Rappa. river.
- Boundaries of his land, as shown in Richmond Co. records
(wills and deeds) thus far found are:
nland adjoirs John Wormeley!s land"

n n Isaac Arnold's L |

" that William Pullin 1lives on in 1715

" adjoins John Comb!s land, left to Mary Cullins

and entailed to son Charles
tract of land that he lived on 1715
" L " son Charles lives on

Westmoreland Co., Va., John Willis bought 200 acres on
Oct. 28, 1668. (Ref. not given).

John (x) Willis to Matilda Thacher, whom he "intends to
make his wife" deed in Bk. 1, Richmond Co., Va., p 79, on Dec.
11, 1691. (Copied by E. DeH.) Bk. 1, p 8l, gives the cate
July 22, 1693, acc. to Mrs. Gottschalk.,

* In Deed Bk, L (1705-1708) p 102-a, "Whereas John Willis
& John Parsons of the Co: of ‘Richmond became seiged in Joyn-
tennacy of in and to 148 acres of Land lying and being in St.

Mary's Parish in the Co. aforesaid as may appear by a patent

under the hands of Phill. Ludwell Esq. then Agent & Attorney

to the Proprietors 27th Feb, 1690/91. |
John Parsons dying willed to John Parsons & Walter
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Anderson who purchased of sd: John...."
Richmond Co., Bke 4, p 103, March 21, 1706, John Willis, Jr. to
Walter Anderson..."land which was given to the said John Willis,
Jr., by his father...land had been John Parson's land..."
Order Bk. 2, p 16, 16924,‘ John Willis and Matilda his wife acknow-
ledge a deed to John Willis, Jr. for 100 acres. This land shows
up later on the King Geo. Co. books.
Bk. 3, p 60 (68), April 26, 1701, John Willis of Richmond Co., Va.,
to my son William Willis of Richmond Co., Va,, "for the naturs:
love and affection which I doe bear unto my loving son...all inat
part of a patent of land...except 100 acres formerly given by .2
to my eldest son JOHN WILLIS, a8 shown by record in Richmond Co.,
Vaese.oand if the said WILLIAM WILLIS should die without issue then
the said land to revert to my son JOHN WILLIS and his heirs forever
.+ .after the death of HER whom the said William Willis should inter-
marry with, who shall enjoy the same during her life time and the
said John Willis, only having to himself the right and liberty to
timber...during his lifetime.." land contains 161 acres whieh is
deeded herein to said William Willis...part of a grant for 261
acres...out of whieh 100 acres has previously been given to John

wWillis Jr.
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Bk. 1, p 97, Jan. 3, 1692, Richmond Co., Va., John Willis to

Thomas Kendz1l..."land in Richmond Co., along the Réppahannock

Rivere.."

John Willis, Sr. names definitely the following children:

- Eldest son John ~ "and makes him Exr. of his Will, 1715
(2nd son) Wiliiem  and mskes him guardian of the g*ﬂl
hary tuJJJ_: Goeeing?) was che grand-
cave Ci'1i tllua Thacher, widow of Hexary
Trach ﬂ“°
(3rd son) Charles t0 whom he sets aside land axd personal

PrEPET T Ch,g. m his eizp-~sister
Fzelidea Thacher, They lived in King

: " Geoe. Coo

dau. Masy niaz row viZe of Thcenmas Janee,! son
Darid (recerds of tncm ere in King
cho 9 UO(}.

. Susemizn gons Ches. ard Wme ars to pzy her 500

lbs, of tobeacco..

Sirse he bogueathic Mery Gerdiner £00 1bs., of Tobazcc...she must
| have bDezn o an equal fooving wit
Susanach, pevhaps a grandidauzhter.

I,uav Avro*d, made an Exr. of the Will ond zls0 on3 of the
SRR Guardiene of Mery Cullins,. psscibly
L. led a Gaughtsr, as husktand of the
eldest dau. stcod In legal right t»o be
Exr. instsad of one of the other suns.
' In his will Jobn Willis mentions "all of my sons and daugh-
ters" and leaves any vndevised part of the estate to be dlividad

equally among "all of my sons and daughters,* and "the daughters

to have equal parts with the sons..."
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Since son John Willis was apparently of age in 1694 when his

father deeded 100 acres of land to son John; John Willis 5r.. must
have married in 1672 or earlier. The first wife was the mother
of his children. He could have married several times, with
Matilda, Widow Thacher as his last wife.

JOHN WILLIS of Hanover Par., King Geo. Co., Va., Planter

to
William Robinson, Gent, of same place...
",..whereas John Willis Sr., Dec'd, grandfather of the said JOHJY
Willis party to these presents was in his lifetime seized ir Fee
of 261 acres of land with all the appurtenances..situate lying
and being in the aforesaid Parish of Hanover and County of King
George which was granted unto him by letters Patent bearing the
date of Oct. 21, 1669 and being so seized by deed or assignment
indorsed on the back of the said letters Patent bearing the date
of April 26, 1701 did give and grant unto his son WILLIAM WILLIS,
now deceased and his heirs lawfully begotten of his body 161
acres of land part of the said 261 acrcs by the name of ALL THE
REMAINING LAND OF THE WITHIN PATENT of land except 100 acres

formerly given to his son John Willis as by the said letters of

Patent and assignment recorded in the County of Richmond relation
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thereunto may more at large appear and WHEREAS the said WILLIAM
WILLIS is now dead and the 161 acres of land are descended and
come to the ssid JOHN WILLIS party to these presents, the eldest
son and heir of the body of the said William Willis whereby the
said JOHN WILIIS is seized of the said premises in Fee tail and
whereas by an inguiciticn taken before DRenj. Berryman, Gent.,
Sheriff of sd King Geo. Co. on March last by virtue of a writ in
the nature of an ad quod dammum to him directed pursuiant to the
acy of the Lcsetol; in such cases malde and provided it is found
+hat tha said 161 zcres of land are ¢f the value of 60 pounds
sterling and no more and that same are a separate parcsl and'a
parcz. of or contigucus to other entaiied lands in the possession
and seizen of the said JOHN WILLIS as by the inaulsition now re-
maining in the Secretary!s office of this Colony relation being
thereunto had may more at large appear... John Willis doth here-
by grant bargain and sell to said VWm. Robinson.
Release is signed by Elizabeth, wife of John Willis,
Deed Bk. 2, pp 1256-27, June 1, 1737, King George Co., Va.

JOHN WILIIS, of Hanover Par., King Geo. Co., Va., Planter

and William Robinson, gent, and Joseph Strother and Maximilian

Robinson, gent,..church wardens of the parish on the other part...
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John Willis and Wm. Robinson...do grant bargain and sell to said
Strother and Max: Robinson..all that tract and parcel of land
containing by estimatlon 261 acres of land 1n Hanover Par., King
Geo, Co., Va.,..whlch said lard was granted tc JOHN WILLIS Sr.
grandfather of the sald JOHN'WILLIS party to these pressnts..«e
by letters of patent dated Oct. 21, 1669...and 100 acres thereof
were given by the said JOHN WiLLIS ST'e o deq'd to his son John
Willis (dec'd) in feetail by a deed dated Dec. 10, 1694 and by
the death of the said JOHN WILLIS, the son withocut issue are
reverted and come to the said JOHN'WILLIS party to these preseats
as heir-at-law of the said JOHN WILLIS the grandfatl.r and the
re81duelof the said premises_were glven’by the said JOHN WILLIS
(Sr.)‘the grandfather to his son_WILLIAM:WILLIS father of the
said JOHN WILLIS who 13 party to these presents....
Richmond Co., Order Bk. 5, p 78, Sept. 7, 1709.
John Combs came into Court and by virtue of Powgr of Attorney

from WILLIAM WILLIS acknowledged a deed for land from the said

WILLIAM WILLIS to John Hansford and same was admitted to record.

wife of'wllllamJWillls to

Also by Power of Attorney from Sarah,
dower

uished the said Sarah!s right of

him in her‘behalf, reling
‘ and deed wes admitted to record.

in land conveyéa to Hanxford, an
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The above records show that John Willis, Sr. left land to sons
John & William Willis. |
John Willis, Jr. died 1727-28. Inv. 1728.
Son WILLIAH WILLIS married before 1709, died 1717/18 leaving
a widow Sareah and an eldest son JOHN WILLIS, who was
still under age of 21 on July 2, 1?314
That the widow SARAH m 2nd Henry Wood who d, 1722 and thab
she m 3rd Rush Hudson who was still living in 1731,
Dzed Bke. 1-i, pp 2°h=327, March 5, 2.73L, King Géo. Co., Va.
William Wocd cf St. Mark's Parish, Crarge Co., Va. and RUSH
HUDSCN of Hancver Par., King Geo. C0., Va., planter,...Wm.
Wood "sells to said Hudson those two tracts ofvland
(1) contains 1LO acres binding on lands of Col. Page, John
Taylor, and on land on which said Rush Hudson now dwells...
and wherecn Henry Wood, dec'd formerly lived...and bounding
on -a creekees |
(2) contains 100 acres whereon George PARSONS now dwells,
adjacent land of Rowland Thornton (brother of Francis
Thornton), JOHN WILLIS, and Edmund Donohoe...being formerly

purchased by said HENRY WOOD, father of the said William
Ylood from John HANSFORD..and both tracts of land descended
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to said Wme. Wood as heir at law of the aforesaid Henry Wood, dec'd
»se.5€lls for one ear of corn. This 100 acres was sold by Wm.
Willis to Hansford.1709.

Wit.: Benj. Adie.
JOHN WREN (m widow Elizabeth Ferguson)

George Parsons..

Henry Wood m 1. | and had son William Wocd

" " m 2, Sarah, widow of William Willis and had by her one
son Henry Wood, named in his mother's will,
Henry Wood died in King Geo. Co., Va., 1722.
Bk. 3, p 173-178, Feb. 20, 17L46.
Rush Hudson of St. Mark!s Parish, Orange Co., Va.
(Son of Rush Hudson and Sarah Wwillis, Wood, Hudson--later
Turberville., Rush Hudson Sr. died in 1735).
to
Francis Thornton, Gent., of Hanover Parish, King George Co., Va.
"...four parcels of land..total of 205 acresse...

(1) contains 40 acres land on which David Jones now 1iveSe..

being land on which Rush Hudson, Sr., formerdiy lived and
adjoining on the westermost side of Partridge's Creek...

(?) being 100 acres adjoining land of sd Fra: Thornton and on lond
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‘of JOHN WILLIS and on land of Edmund Donshoe lying on the

lower side of the main branch of sd Creek,
(3)..30 acres being a part of a patent granted to John Washington,.
(h)..oS acres being the land which said Rush Hudson,  Sr., pur-
chased from George Green lying on lower side of Partridge's
Cr....wrich said four parcels of land were purchased by the
said Rush Hudson Sr. and the said Rush Hudson, Sr. dying
intestate the said land became the property of the afore-
saild Ruch [iudson Jr., party t> these presents... signed
Ruz.a Hudson
His wife Sarah signed the dower.
Wits.: ¥m. longmire
Joan Wren
Wme hren

Will of Sarzh Turberville. Bk, 2; p 310, Orange Co., Va.

dated June 18, 1750, probated May 28, 1761:

To my son John Willis 1 shilling
To my son William Willis 10 shillings
To my son Henry Wood £2

To my son David Hudson -1 shilling
To my son Joshua Hudson 1 shilling

To my deughter Sarah Hawkins..all my wearing clothes
To Rush Hudson's dau. Mary 1 chest

To Rush Hudsont!s dau. Elizabeth 1 trunk

All to my son Rush Hudson and he to be my Executor

Wit: Benjanin Hawkins )



Ll

Moses Harwood
Kesia Rosser:

JOHN WILLIS (William, John Sr.) was born in King Geo.
Co., Va., ca 1710-11 (not 21 July 1731), son of Williem Willis

and Sarah .+ He died in Orange Co., Va. in the Spring

of 1762.

He married in King Geo. Co., Va., Elizabath Pluriett
(bond) Jan. 1734/35 (1735). St. Paul's Parish Reg.
Bk. 2, p 142, March 2, 1736, King Ceo. Co., Va.
Jéhﬁ'Wiliis of Hanover Parish, King Geo, Co., Va., Plazter
§Zaac Pitman, deed by lease and release
1h)y acres..bounded...at é black o2k in the line of land of
ARCHIDELL COMBS dec'd...near the road from Mejor Murdocks to
the Bristol Iron Works..and alorg the cornfield of thé said
JOHN WILLIS...

Dower signed by Elizabeth, wile of John Willis, March 7,
1736. |

John Willis Sr.'s land was described as adjzacent Comktig
land which he willed to Mary Cullins, then to son Charles.

Francis Thornton wills land joining Joseph Murdock's to son

William Thornton. This John Willis was probably son of

Charles. John died 1753 and wife Elizabeth's will was proved
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1767.
Will of JOHN WILLIS. Bk. 2, p 323, Orange Co., Va.

In the name of God, Amen, Orange Co., Hanover Parish, Nov.
25, 1761. |

i,‘John'Willis doe constitute and ordain this as my last
will and testement in the manrer and form following:

Imprirms, To my son William I give negroes Thom & Judith
and the lot in Culnpeper to be belonged to the aforesaid William
arber my decease..o

The aegroés Daniel & Millie I give to Edmund Terrill.

To Welter Shropshire...I allow him one'shiiiing znd three

pence. And to every child viz: John, Benjamin, Joshua, James,
Reuben, Francis, Lewis, Moses and Mary

the rest of ny estate to be equally divided among them. Ny
beloved wife shall keep in her possession the aforesaid estate
during her life.
The place formerly belonging to Mr. Marks belongs to Benjamin.
This place where I live belongs to John.

Witness my hand (signed with a mark) John Willis
Witnesses, Arch. Campbell

Elizabeth W, Willis
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N.B. My son William and Edmund Terrill to be Executors.

Recorded the 25th day of March 1762 by William Willis one of the
Exrs. |
Bk. 13; p L8, Orange Co., Va., dated Nov. 19, 176l.

To all to whom these presents may come...Know ye that I ELIZABETH
WILLIS, relict of John Willis dec'd., of Orange Co., Va., Whereas
the said John Willis did oy his last will and testament dated
Nov. 21, 1761 gave legasieB go his children and left the rest of
the estate in my possession and at my decease the said estate to
be divided equally among my NINE YOUNGEST CHILDREN: vig: JOHN,
BENJAMIN, JOSHUA, JAMES, REUBEN, FRANCES, LEWiS, MOSES, and MARY.
... and I being willing that the children be assured of their
property and for the love. and afféctioﬁ which I have for them do
hereby give them their parts.

Wit: David Hudson

William Johnson and Lucy, his wife

to

James Gordon, dJr., 200 acres....lying and being in the County of
Culpeper....at the mouth of Rumsays Branch, on the north side of
River Rappidan.... Dec. 1, 1780, Culpeper Co. Deed Bock K, p 285.

Elizabeth Johnson (probably daughter of grandson William named in
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will of Elizabeth Willis 1767)

to
James Johnson, Jr. A certain piece or parcel of land lying
and belng in the County of’Culpepar being the said Elizabeth
Johnson's portion of the land left by her father, the late
William Johnson, dec'd. containing 25 acres. March 12, 1831,
Culpeper Co. Deed Bdok XX, p L35.
Summation:

Rotert Wiliiz was in Edgefield So., S. C. on April 2l,
1790 whénlhe witnessed a deed for Richard Johﬁson, together
with Moore Johnson. (Deed Bke 7, p 91). He was étill in
Edgefield Co. when the census for 1310 was taken. He bought
land in Barnwell Co., Se. C., in 1817/18 ahd moved there and
was buried ttere in 18Lli. He probably married ih 1796 when
on April 13th he paid & 50 sterling to Richard Johnson, Sr.
fof Turkey Creek" for 200 acres of 1and'on Jones! branch.
(Edgefield Co. Deed Bk. 13, p 171); which he sold to Henry
Anderson on fept. 12; 1808. (Bk. 29,Ap 297).

if Robert'Willis'had beén‘the soh of Joﬂn and Sarah

Thomas Willis, he would have been thelr eldest son, and

assnredly would have been named by hlS uncle Joshua Willis as
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an heir of John Willis dec!d in 1810, in the litigation over the
will of Benjamin Willis in Orange and Culpcper Cos., Va. Alex-
ander and Abner Willis were so named. No further rccord of Abner
has come to light; but Alexander Willis appears on the Tax List of
Fayette Co., Ky. on Aug. 19, 1800 (Census Ky. 1800). The only
connec tion between Robert Willis of Barnwell Co, and John and
Sarah Thomas Willis is (1) that the date of Robert!s bixth would
fit, and (2) in 1773, John and Sarah Willis were living in Cul~-
peper Co., Va., and (3) the fact that Robert named a daughter
Sarah. Robertl!s eldest son John Turrer Willis wes protatly naried
for the doctor of that section, Dr. John Turner, or for scme otlier
member of that Turner family. Another, younger, daughuver of
Robert and Keziah Willis was named Matilda, which is a clue to his
possible descent from Charles and Matilda Willis and their son |
John Willis, or some unknown son of Charles. This John ¥Willis!?
daughter married a Johnson (Will of Elizabeth'Willis, King Ceo.
Co. 1767). The daughter!s name was probably "Lucy," (Deed of
William Johnson and wife Lucy, 1780).

In Edgefield Co., S. C., Deed Bk. 12, p 581, Willis Johnson

(named as grandson by Elizabeth Willis, 1757, King Geo. Co., Va.)

bought land in 1795 on West side of Stcphens Creek, part of it
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originally granted to Henry Key, Jr., Esq. in 1773. A further

search of the records of King George Co., Va., might show that
Charles and Matilda Willis had other sons besides John, from one
of whom Robert could have been descended. It is also possible
that the Elizabeth Willis, will 1767, was a second wife of John
Willis who died in 1753. Further study rust be made of the King
George Co., Va., records.

Still there is the question,; where did Robert Willis get
$21,00 in 1817/18 to buy 1700 acres of land in Barnwell Co.7? Whét
of the cherished silver teaspoons macde in Philadelphia inAthe
17501s-17901s?

Several things have pﬁzzled me: (1) Why was it that a group
of descendants'bf Robert'WilliS, who had lived in or near Willis-
ton, S.C. all of their lives, and who were excellent doétors,
engineers, teachers and successful farmers did not know--not one
of them acknowledged knowing-- the names of the parents of their
ancestor Robert Willis, yet each knew the names of parents and
grandparents of his wife Keziah Watson unless there was something
their elders believed was "best forgotten"?; (2) When I told

"Cousin Bessie! Willis, granddaughter of Williamson Watson Willis

and Charity Jolnson, (whom she said were half-first-cousins) and
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thus descended from both Robert Willis and Moore Johnson, that I

believed the mother of Robert Willis was the illegitimate daughter
of John Allen, of Spotsylvania Co., Va., she burst into spon-
tancous laughter and refused to tell me why she was iaughing; (3)
Richard Johnson, Jr.a half-brother of Moore Johnson, and eldest
son of Richard Johnson, of Edgefield Co., S.C., died childless

and was pocsessed of vast acreage and meny slaves. In his will
Richard Jr. named brothers John and Haley and sister Mary Burton,
niece Emily Chandler and nephew George, son of Haley, but left
nothing to Moore. Moore named his ornly son "Haley."

Richard Johnson, son of Thomas Jchnson end wife Ann Meri-
vether, merried Dorothy Powsrs, Nov, 1L, 1789. ("leyises, Meri-
wethers and Their Kin", by Sarah Anderson, p 176).

Spctsylvania Co. Records, Bk. G, p 276, states that Richard
Johnson, Janeé, Maxy, Rechel (sic) and Dorothy of Caroline deeded
land to John McCauley on April 8, 1759. (B.& S, p 279).

Because of detes the above twc Richard Johnsons could not
have been th=2 same Richard.

In Va. County Recerds Vol. 1, p 85, June 21, 1738, Richard
Johncton married‘Dorothy'Waller, dau, of William Waller and

Ann Beverloy, Richard was given land 1n Spotsylvania Co. by
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his father William, Aug. 1, 1763. William also deeded land to

gen James Johnston.

The names in the above deed of April 8, 1769 must then have
been children of Richard Johnson, son of William. This Richard
(son of Richard, son of William) moved to South Carolina. Evi-
foently he married several times. (1) Prob. a Haley, (2) the
mother of Moore, and (3) Charity, possibly Charity Couch, a
n.oce of Michael Watson. (Notes of the late Edgefield genealo-
(8%, Mrs. FR11Y. . Rachel Johnson, who married David Johnson,
teit a will . Edgefield Co., S. C., dated Sept. 8, 1798. Her
caushter Feanle married Haley Johnson, son of Richard Sr. and
brother of Richard Jr. (Will of Richard Jr., Bundle 15, pkg.
5386, Edgefield Co.). Her oldest son was "James" Johnson.

(L) Another puzzle: in his book "The Willis Family" by
Bryd Charles Willis, in collaboration with his grand-nephew,
Byrd Charles gives in detail whom the brothers and sisters of
Robert Carter Willis married, with parentage in most cases and
names of children; but he only states that "Robert Carter Willis
married Martha." No surname given the wife nor names of children.

Why, unless he was not proud of the alliance? OCf course, since

Frederick Co. was far away, Byrd Charles might not have known
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Martha Sedwick's last name; or there might have been two wives
named Martha, -and one of them, in those days, waé considered as
having no surname.

As stated above, record has been found of the marriage of
Robert Carter Willis and Martha Sedwick on Dec. 21, 1776, Benjzmin
Sedwick named.as father of Martha.  (Frederick Co., Va., Marriages
1771-1825, compiled by Eliza T. Davis, 19&1, p 15).

The will of Benjamin Sedwick, Frederick Co., Va., Bk. l,

p 672/3, dated Mar. 2, 1782, proved Sept. 2, 1783, bequeathes all
his land to two. sons James and John; gives a slave each and other
personal property to three daughters'Betty,”Chrisﬁiana,Mary and
Hannah. Ann Sedwick; and states, "And,ﬁhereas»mthaughter Martha
hath Married and left me & I think I have alfeady-givén her as
much.as I can the rest of my children I give and'bequeath Five
Pounds to be paid to her out of my Estate and no more." Wits:

Stephen Johnson, Jasper Ball,”Williém"Frost'and Thomas Shepherd.

In an. abstract of the will of John Allen, given in "Virginia
County Records, Spotsylvania Co. 1721¥1800,ﬁ by'w.'A. C£ozier,
Vol. 1, p 10, is the following: Allen, John, Spotsylv. Co., I.
Fredericksburg, Mar. 1lj, 1749, proved Apr. 3, 1750. Wit. Pat

Connelly, John Simpson, James Allenach, Adam Stephen, Francis
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Gibson. Exrs. Coll. John Waller, Junr., Mr. Archd. McPherson,

William and James Hunter, James Allen, Mr., Archd. Ingram, Merch.
in Glasgow. Leg. my natural dau., Martha, who lives at the house
of HENRY WILLIS, Gentl. 1000 lbs. to be paid when she arrives at
the age of 21 years, or marries with the consent of Coll. Wm.
walle;, Junf,, Mr, Archd. McPherson and Wm. Hunter, who I appoint
her guardiaﬁs. ‘To my mother 40O 1lbs; to my sister Christian 1400
lbs, above sums to be remitted to Mr. Archd. Ingrém, Merch. in
Glasgow. To fiiend, Wm. Hunter 100 ibs; to my bro, James Allen
1o% 52 i Fradericksburg, my household furniture and meichants
goods. To Ir. Adam Stephén 10 volumes of Rollings Ancient
'Hist5:y;‘to my aunt, Sarah Blake, in Hamelton, 20 1lbs. = The
remainder of my estate to be divided between the children of my
aunt Jane Black? in Hamelton; the children of John Wallson, in
‘Hamelton,.in parish of Glasgow; the-children of Mary Struthers in
Glaégow. Testator to be bur. on Farm Hill plantation.. (p.l19).
Will Book B. - 17L9-1759, p.10.

The Henry Willis, Gentl, referred to above, in whose home
Maftha‘Allen lived, had married his étep—sister Elizabeth
Gregéﬁy, daughtef of Mildred Washington (Gregony)'Willis, 3rd

wife 6f Col, Henry Willis, of Fredericksburg son Apr..29, 1743
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(p 85 of Spots. Records) and,they had no children of their owm.
That might account for their having taken Martha into their home,
.or Martha might have been closely related to Elizabeth Gregory
"Willis, .which is-1likely.

Of the men mentioned above as guardians of Marthz Allen:
William Waller Jr.., /gzghew of Dorcthy Waller who married Rizhard
- Johnsong - Archibald McPherson died intestate shortly after John
Allen. William, Jr. and Dorothy Waller were children of William
Waller who married Ann Beverly June 21, 1738 end Risherd Jchiicoa
was the son/gli“:%l:icl).g.}jﬁxn;- Johnston who married Betty Tayior Cul, O,
174} (Ibid, p -85). William Hunter married Ma-tha Tcliaferro,
. daughter of John and Mary Td iaferro. (Itid, p 7).
. Will' of John Taliaferro, Apr. 30, 17hli; Aug. 7, 17Lh, "to
:William Hunter as a portion to my dau. Martha 300 acres out of the
Robinson tract," wife Mary, sons Lawrence and William and daus.
Lucy.- and Molly.  John Taliaferro married Mary Catlett, dau. qf Capte.
John and Elizabeth Gaines Catlett. (Ibid, p 7). Will of William

Hunter, Nov.. 5,-1753, Mar. 5, 1754, dau. Martha Hunter & 1000

currency; sons James and William "to be educated at the College of
William and Mary.*" ‘_(ibid,p 13). William Hunter, merchant, and

Martha Taliaferro married April 5, 1T7ukL. (Ibid, p 85).  William
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Taliaferro was appointed guardian of James, William and Martha,
orphans of William Hunter dec'd. 175hL. (Ibid, p 13).

Henry Willis, Jr. died ca 1751 and his widow Elizabeth
Gregory Willis married Reuben Thornton. Did William and Molly
Hunter take the small child Martha Allen at that time and give
her the surname of Hunter? William Hunter bequeathed to
daughter Martha the exact sum of & 1000 that had been left by
John Allen for his natural daughter Martha? And William Hunter
nzd beea made ¢ uardian of Martha.

Dhis iiartha Allen could have married Robert Carter Willis
about 1770 and had a young son Robert Willis b 1772/73. If
Martte had died, Robert Carter Willis would have kept his son
or continued to care for him; but, although it could never be
proved, 1f Martha had refused to go with her husband Robert
Carter Willis into the newly settled Shennandoah Valley country
and he divorced her, that would add more disgrace for Byrd
Charles Willis to forget. The divorced Martha could have
married widcwer Richard Johnson as his second wife and become
the mother cf Moore Johnson., Richard Johnson married as a

third wife Charity s of Edgefield Co., S. C.

Judging by her will and her second marriage to the Rev,
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Richard Swift, Robert CarterfWillis' wife Martha Sedwick Willis

was an unusually fine person. As such she would have insisted
upon giving a step-son, 1gnored by hls‘father's will, a share
of the father's property after it had been liquidated in 1817,
and also a small share of the family‘silver--one—half of a
dozen silver teaspoons.

If this marriage of Robert Carter Willis and Martha Allen-
ﬁunter were true, it would enswer aii of the things thet have
puzzled me;:the silence of Robert Willis and his children, <f
Barnwell Co., as to.his parentageg the failure of Byrc Chia.lers
Willis to give a surneme to t"Martha, wife of Robcrt Carter
Willis; Robert's ability to buy 1arge tracts of lard in 1817.2.2s
the six cherished teaspoons; the assurance that Robert was des-
cended from one of ﬁhe three brothers that came from England to
Virginia, and. that Robert did come from Virginia to South Caro-~
1lina, Martha Allen must have been the great granddaughter of
John Tallaferro, or of Mildred Gregory'Willis.

The three Gregory sisters marrled three Thornton brothers,
sons of Francis ‘Thornton (1698-17&9) and his wife Mary Talia-
ferro, daughter of Col. John Tallaferro "The Ranger" and Sarah

Smith, daughter of Lawrence Smith and wife Mary of
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Gloucester Co., Va., (1656-1720). A deed dated Jan. 5, 1733

between Mildred Gregory, Henry Willis and John Washington "in
view of the intended marriage of Henry Willis.and Miidred
Gregory" conveyed property "to son Lewis" and daughters Frances
Thornton, Mildred and Elizabeth Gregofy. (W & M (1) 6; p208-
211). Lewis Willis, son of Henry and Mildred was not born
until Nov. 11, 173L4. (Ibid). Therefore, Frances Gregory
Thornton could have been the grandmother of Marfhé who was "in
the home of Henry Willis, Gent. in 1749.

lihether or not the above suppositions were true, Robert
Willis and Moore Johnson in South Carolina in 1790 could hardly
have bezn half-brothers unless Richard Johnsén married 3
divorced Mrs. Willis, or'a ycuﬁg widow Willis. Thus fér no
Willlis man has been found who died between fhe birth“dates of
those two men: Robert Willis and Moore Johnson. The séarch.for
such a Willis should go on. The possibility, however, is that
Francis Willis who, died intestate in Culpeper Co., Va., in
1789, and who wses named in his mother Elizabeth Willis! will
in 1767 with daughter Jane, might have had a son, unrecorded,
who married ca 1771 and died shortly thereafter ca 1773'and had

a son Robert. The widow afterwards married Richard Johnson and
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had Moore Johnsqn and then she, too, dieds, When a child!s ..
parents die when hgfis.very young and he is reared by others,
sometimes the phila kﬁows little of his real parents.. That
might have happened ip:the éase of Robert Willis. Certainly
the fact tha@‘ﬁébért‘Willis named a daughter "Matilda" does‘not
support my suppésition that Robert might have been the son of .
Robert Carter Qillis;.bpt dges suggest a tie-up with Charles and
Matilda'Wiliis iﬁ'Will 1715. Another thought is that Gen'l.
Shermant!s army burned 30 houses belonging to the Willis family
aroundﬁW1lllston.' Fam;ly Bibles and portraits went up in flames.
Afterward the ﬁegﬂéndjwomen were too busily struggling for fozd-
and shelter to tﬁi£k about or:talk about ancestry.

In the Vlrglnla County Records, Vol. 1 Spot=y1van1a
records, were found the follow1ng. a Richard Johnston was a
witness in 172h‘ Rlchard Johnston died intestate in 1726 and
Jael Johnston was admlnlstrator of his estate. (p85). ‘Jael
Johnston marrled w1dow Tutt mother of Rlchard Tutt. Jaells will
dated July 7, 1733; recorded Sept. lj, 1733, Executor Richard Tutt.
It states in part to "my son Richard Tutt" to whcem he bequeathed
certain articles, among which was a "chest called Elizabeth

Tutt!s;" to my son James Williams...Richard Johnston bcught land
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in Spots. Co. in 1731 (p 119). Oct. 2, 17hk, Robert Williamson

of Caroline Co. to John Haley of Hanover Co., 40O acres in

Spots. Co., land patented Jan, 10, 1735. Elizabeth, wife of
Robert Williamson, acknowledges her dower. (p 166). Could
Richard Johnson have married a daughter of this John Haley?

Which Richard Johnson went to South Carolina is a guess!

According to Chapman's History of South Carolina, large
caravans of wagons in 1760-1762 brought men, many with families,
from Virginia z:c North Carolina into South Carolina, some to
specurat> in land, others to stay. Among them were Richard
Tutt, Richard Johnston (Johnson) and William Willis, each of
whom received a grant of land. In 1762, Richard Johnson was
granted 100 escres on stephens Creek, which he sold to LeRoy
Hammond in 1763 (Edgefield Co. Records and Index to Grants L-Z,
1695-1776). William Willis received a grant of 200 acres on
northeast side of Wateree river 16 Jany. 1761, which he sold to
John Simmons Feb. 3, 1761, recorded in Bk. 7, folio 188. Price
Willis received a grant of 150 acres in Granville on Jan., 10,
1771.

The next record found in South Carolina for Richard John-

son is that on Apr. 2L, 1790, Richard Johnson, Jr., deeded to
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Richard Johnson, Sr. 200 acres '"whereon Moses Kirkland formerly
lived and Richard Johnson, Sr, now lives", head of Turkey Creek.
Wits.: Joel Chandler, Robert Willis and Moor Johnson (Bk. 7, p
91). Richard Johnson was witness of a deed in Culpeper Co., Va.
'in 1769. No further record of William Willis has been found in
:South Carolina. -Records show that Price Willis was a blacksmith
in-Shelby Co., Kentucky ca:1800. A Price Willis married Hester
Middleton in Shelby Co. Nov. 2L, 1817. Thus indications are that
Richard Johnson returned .to Virginia between 1763 and 1785-89,
before finally settling in South Carolina. He could have married
a Widow Willis in Culpeper Co., which was originally a part of
Spotsylvania Co. while back in Virginia. The widow might have
been the wife of a grandson of Charles and Matilda Willis.
Possibly the widoy of a son of Francis Willis, died in Culpeper
Co. 1789 or earlier (inventory in 1789). John Willis, son of
Charles and Matilda Willis was born ca. 1700~171l, named in his
grandfather's will in 1715, Francis was born ca 1730-35, and his
~son born ca 1752 could have had a son Robert Willis in the spring
of-1773. Or, Richard Johnson could have married the widow of

Francis Willis himself in 1789 and returned immediately to South

Carolina, which would make Robert Willis and Moore Johnson step-
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brothers instead of half-brothers. These are possibilities

for which to search.

= In old Lunenburg Co., Va., records are fourid of a Robert
Willis in 17L9; Thomas Willis in 17503 Robert and Steven
Willis in 1750; Edward Willis 4n 1752; William Willis 1in
176L, in St. Jame$ Parish; Robert Willis in 1769 in Cumberland
Parish; Robert Willis:in 1772; Mashack (sic) Willis in 1773
in Cumberland Parish (Meshéck Willis (of Tennessee" deeded
land on Stephens Creek in Edgefield Co., S. C. in 1808);
Chacract Willis witnessed the will of Joshua Willis in N. C.
in 1806; Rcbert Willis Sre & Jr. in the same locality in
Lunsiburg Co.. 1773=1783.. The Stephen Willis family moved
down to Georgia in the 1780's, A Robert Willis was on the
1790 census in Edgefield Co., S. C., with small children
under 16 years of age. .

In Wilkes Co,, Ga., where several descendants of John
Willis, will Orange Co., Va., 1762, settled, is found in Deed
Bk. EE, p $5: Robert Willis named as testator in deed between
Robert McGary. (sic) and Blake & Pope, 12 Octs 1787. A Robert

McCreary was in Barnwell Co., S. C.-later and Robert Moore

Willis, son of Robert and Keziah Willis, married his daughter
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Susan McCreary, ca 1830,

Followihg is the full text of the will of Robert Willis
¢Opied by Elizabeth Deluff in Columbia, S. C. in Dept. of
Archives: ﬁThough 1abéring at this time under affliction I am
never the less of Soﬁnd Mind & Memory. & knowing that it is
appointed unto all men once to Die, I Robert Willis of the Statle
& District aforesaid Doo make this my Last will & testament in
manner & form following & first I would commit my Soul to God
who gave it & I here with observe that where as all my chilidren
except my two youngist Dauters have had a part of my estate sacine
more and some less as I shall hereafter Discribe to the best of
my recollection havihg not kept an accurit account, & it is uny
will that the amount that éach of my heirs has recd shall go for
so much of their pért of‘my estate when there is a Jeneral Devi-
tion made of my property which will not be until after the death
of myéelf & wife & I will here observe that it is my will, that
all my property real & personal should remain in the hands of my
belov,d wife provided she is the longist liver for her own use
& benefit with full power to carry on business the same as when
i was alive excipt what property I herein will to my two youngist

Daughters, of which T will now Discribe that is to say to my
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Daughter Antonet I give the following negroes a young woman cald
Cate & girle named tuner & one boy named Wade all‘to be for hir
with their increase & to be heird by the heirs of hir Body for
ever i allso will that should my Daughter Antonet marry in my
beloved wifes lifetime that she should have five cows & calves
or yearling & a fifty Dollar horse & one bed & bedstead, & to
riy Daughter Ellen I give one negro woman & child named Harriott
& mﬁg allso one négfo girl named hester & one boy named Charles
& the same amount of other property as is named above to hir
Sisver Anionet, & on the condition that they shall by hirs &
nir heirs after hir & my will further is that if éither of my
Siﬂgle Daughters Does merry & Die with out isue that their
property shall be returnd back to my estate, & I give to my
Dauvghter Matilda Reed one negro Béy exclusive of what she
formerly had namd Sam, & which is to hir & hir heirs for ever--
& I here want it understood that if my beloved wife Kegzish
Willis shall think proper she has power to let any of my heirs
have any.prbperty left in her hand During her life She will
have power to let them take it at a fair valuation as so much
paid towards their respective parts, I now proceed to name the

¢ifferent amounts that has been paid to my older children to
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W’ito [}

Jas G. Willis one thousand Dollars $1000
(should be Jno. T. Willis. There was no James G.
known by anyone. The adm. papers show that $1000
was advanced to John T. Willis. E. DeH.)

Elijah Willis six hundred Dollars 600
Robt., M. Willis six hundred Dollars 600
Williamson W. Willis five hundred Dollars 500
Winney Lott six hundred Dollars 600
Martha Matthews five hundred Dollars 500
Sarah Boytston five hundred Dollars 500
Matilda Reed seven hundred Dollars | 700
Patrick V. Willis nine hundred Dollars 900
Michael Willis one thousand %32 A 1032

each of my heirs with the amounts here chargeqd shall be entitilzd
to equal share and share alike in my estate after the Death of
my beloved wife both of the real and personal, my beloved wife
is hereby authorised’to collect all out stand monies that may te
Due me or to come Due for the support of hir self & family it
must be recollected that the above property which is givin to my
two youngest Daughters I consider to be worth each one thousand
Dollars which is the amount as so much of their Respective
shares at the final Settlement of my estate, my gold watch I
leave to my Beloved son Robt. M. Willis, & should either of my
two youngist Daughters marry after my Death & have a Disire to
Settle on any part of my lands, my belovd wife shall have power.

to have five hundred acres Léid out to them for a settlement at
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a fair Valuation by some Disintrusted persons of the Neighbourhood
-s'ay' two or three,__& I appoint my beloved Sons Elijah Willis & Robt,
M. Willis exécu’tofs 'to‘this my Last will to settle of the affairs
of my estate after the Death of my belovd mfe & to assist hir
while she may 11ve given under my hand this 23 of December & in
IJhe Sixir-eighth year of the independance of the United States of
Amefica.
Robt, Willis
(Will B, Iy p 7, Bornwell Coe, S. Co) -
| Cu s*rengest threads of research still remain the tradition
-that "ReLert Willis came from Virginia with a half-brother Moore
Johiisou,™  {that "Our Willises came from Culpeper CoO., Vao,"
according to John Turner Wiliis, my father, and how was Robert
Willis ensbled to buy so much land in Barmwell Co. in 1817/182
~ Miscellaneous Notes
‘Gentl. Jehn Willis (monument in Nétc:hez, Miss.), born 1759

in Robeson Co., N. C., was the son of Daniel and Elizabeth Moore

Willis. The children of Daniel and Elizabeth (Moore) Willis were:
Sarah, Elizabeth, Mildred, Nancy, Asinath, Mary, Dariel, John,
Joab, Ahab, ROBERT, J031ah, ‘Elias and Joseph.

If Richard Johnson ‘married this widow Elizabeth (Moore)
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Willis, it would fit in with Moore Johnson, who named his second

daughter Elizabeth Johnson; but what of all these other 13

children besides.Robert? Elizabeth Moore might not have been a
first wife and in that case only Robert and one or two more chil-
dren were hers. _.

If it is proved that Robert Wiliis was the son of Francis
Willié, or some other son of John, son of Charles and Matilda
Willié, then certainly we must be descended from Taliaferros end
Thorntons. It was a wide-spread custom in early days to emplcy
grandsons or nephews to be an lagent!" on a large plantation tc rn
the affairs éf the estate, Robert Carter II, so employed his
nephew, young Henry Willis, son of Francis and Elizabeth Cartew
Willis: "3 March 1776, Robert Carter to Capt. Richard Barnztt.
Henry Willis, my nephew, informed me he enlisted into the reguler
service yesterday at your particular request, - Henry Willis is not
16 years old, has a father living in Frederick County, and he is
my servant by indenture, duly executed and delivered to me by his
Father when I took him. I demand his release." (Letter Book of
Robert Carter of Nomini, Manuscript Div., Duke U, Library, Durham,
Ne Co) My "Uncle.Kit" Willis worked fcr his grandfather Charles

Ashley as a teenager, etc.
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It is highly probable that Francis Willis, 4 1789, was so
employed by his grandfather, William Thornton. The will of
Francis Thornton, June 6, 1766, July 2, 1767, states, "I give
to my son William Thornton part of my land lying below Crow
Swamp beginning on the sd Swamp Jjoyning to Joseph Murdock being
part of the land I bought from John McCormack lying on the
lowest side Crow Swamp so up the sd Swamp to a White OakKae..

to a White Oak back of my log house where Francis Willis now

1ives so aiongz the cornfield fence William Thornton now tend

being the land I gave him when he maried Elizabeth Fitzhugh..."
He names no daughters, nor does he give the name of his vife; tub
he devises land 4n both King George County and Faugquier Go. to
his son,.Francis Thornton and names the Hon, Coil.:Presley
Thornton and son, Francis as exrs. (King'Geo} Co., Wiil Bk, k,
p 262-265).

In Va. Hist, Mag. Vol. 13, p 101 is "William Brooke
married Sarah Taliaferro and John Brooke married EEEX’ daivghter

of Francis Thornton, of King George Co. and his wife Saran

Fitzhugh." Since.no date is given, it is not known which of

the above Francis Thorntons is meant, Sr. or Jr.

Charles Willis's son, John (see dbove deed) had land also
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a@jqini;ng ._Mux_.'dqck 's, hence John Willis and Willizm Thornton were
close neighbars, A daughter of John Willis married William
| Johnson and her name was probably "Lucy" (See “ahove deed)e
'I:{;er.me E]._il:zab\efop,“-w;tlli-s whose will 1767 was witiessed by William
.Ci’lapman and William Thornton was.perhaps th: daughter of Francis |
‘Thcr)fnt‘on' and named her son Francis Willis.

A William Thornton, on May 18, 158f, subscribed 50 1bs.
;tfoward the defense of England against the Spanish Armada. Miss
Fr.ances M.‘ Hailes of the Alabama State Ar:hives in 1931 stated
.that the Thornton line came-through william the Conqueror. Peyton
Neale Clark in "0ld King William Homes and Familieé", pages 105~
106, sayé that William Thornton, ‘the first of whom there is a
record in Va. came from Yorkshire, England to York Co., Va. before
15)4.6... A portion of York Co. became Gloucester ‘Co.  in 1651,
'Wi_lliazy.} _Thor:npo;; moved into the new.county and. e'é"ééblished his
hége‘ﬁfhe Hills," named for his home 'in Yorkshireé, Englands W. G.
Stémnard in WM (1) 89-93 & 157-158. stated that William Thornton
obli_.gat.eqz.him‘sel,f,_ by a paper recorded in York Co., to care for
.thc‘e_g‘attl‘e:_‘ofiqphp Liptrap until -the latter became of age.

William Thornton had a grant of 164 acres in Peteworth Parish,

Gloucester Co., adjoining the land of Mr. Rich. Bernard.
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There are three records in Essex Co., relating to William
Thornton, the first, a deed, dated July 6, 1675, from William
Thornton, Gent., of Gloucester Co, to Francis and Roland, two

of his sons, conveying 2000 acres on the Rappahannock; the 2nd,

a Power of Attorney, dated Sept. 1693, from William Thornton
of Gloucester Co. to James Kay of Rappahannock, concerning
2000 acres in the freshies of the Rappahannock, 1ahd bought
from Mr, Mott; the 3rd, the record of a Power of Attorney
deted 1708, from William Thornton formerly of Gloucester Co.,
but row of Stafford Co., William died in Stafford Co.
 Octavia Tollicoffer Bond in "The Family Chronicle and
Kinsi.p Bke" states that William Thornton, the immigrant,
married the daughter of the Colonial Governor, Col. Peter
Presly," whose wife appears to have been a Newman, (Va. M.
Hist. 26 pp 87/8 & 34V93.) 1In addition to sons Francis
(1651) and Roland mentioned in the deed, there was William
(16149-1727) and Pressley. (Will of Francis Thornton, King
Geo. CO., 1766). | |
One Francis Thornton, born March 1L, 1651, was a Burgess
from Spotsylvania Co. in 1723 and 1726. One Francis Thornton

Jr. married Mary Taiaferro, daughter of John Taliaferro, "The
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Ranger," and Sarah Smith Taliaferro. This Sarah Smith was the

daughter of Lawrence Smith and wife Mary . Lawrence

Smith and brother John Smith were sons of Thomas Smith and grand-
sons of Arthur Smith (?). Arthur Smith is listed as a nephew of
Sir Thomas Smythe, President and'freasurer of the Va. Company and
of the Brittish East Indian Co. He was son of Sir Thomas Smythe
of Esténhanger Castle, Kent Co., England, who married in 1552
Alice, daughter of Sir Andrea Judd, Lord Mayer of London. (Mr.
Moreland's notes,)

Fitzhugh of "Eagles! Nest" married Sarah

Carter, daughter of Robert Carter and Elizabeth Landon (Willis)
Carter, ca 1718. Their daughter Sarah, perhaps, was the Sarsh
who married Francis Thornton,
ASHLEY FAMILY
Now that I have more perspective on the Ashley family of

Grandma Willis, I can see certain glaring errors; on p 137 of the
Ashley family, I suggest that the orphan Nathaniel Ashley who was
put under the tuition of William Fleetwood was a Nathaniel who
later lived in Laurens Co., S. C. It was, however, definitely
thé Nathaniel Ashley who moved to Barnwell Co., S. C. and married

Elizabeth Wilson in 1790.
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The William Ashley who was the Administrator of the
estate of John Ashley who died intestate in Bertie Co. 1768
was our own ancestor'William; a brothér of John Ashiey dec'd,.
A letter years ago from Mrs. Walker, great-granddaughter of
Nathaniel Ashley stated that "the father of William Ashley
(her grandfather and son of Nat.) was John Ashley ﬁho was
killed by a falling tree no doubt while clearing land and
left a house full of little boys." Because she had skipped
a generation and left out Nathaniel Ashley, I have no cre-
dence to her letter, Noﬁ; I realize that, as often happens,
she simply left out one generation. Nathaniel Ashley's
fathisr was John Ashléy who died in 1768. After his tutorlage
with Fleetwood, Nathaniel came to S, C. with his uncle William
Ashley and probably lived with him until marriage, although
his mother Mary Ashley married a Collins and also moved to
Barnwell Co., S, C. Charles Ashley'!s children always called
Nathaniel their 'uncle," and vice versa. |

John and William Ashley were sons or-brothers of Charles
Ashley who was a Lieutenant in the Regulars and was in Orange
Co., N. Co 3n 1779/1780 (Tax List) with William there also,

T had thought that an Ashley married a Norfleet; but it
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was probably a Weathersbee. Marmaduke, James and Elisha Norfleet

were in Nansemond Co., Vea., in 1695. Elisha's daughter, Eliza,

married Richard Wyatt. James Norfleet moved to Edgecombe Co.,

N. C. and left sons Thomas and Marmaduke and daughter, "Philli-

shia®, (Ashe'!s Biog. Hist. of N. C., Vol. 2, p 313). Marmaduke
had a dau. named "Louisa.!" Thomas Weathersbee, wiilA1772, named
his first son Wyatt Weathersbee., He possibly married Joyce
Wyatt, the daﬁghter of Richard Wyatt and Eiiza N&rfleet. |

A deéd in Halifax Co., N. C., Dec. 10, 1760 names Jacob,
James and Elijeh Wyatt.

Edward Collins (no dates given) of Bertie Co., N. C. had
daughters Sarah and Elizabeth. Elizabeth married Michsel Hill,
son of Nathaniel and Elizabeth (Hardy) Hill. Isaac Hill's will
names sons Michael, Nathaniel, etc. (Ashe's Biog. Hist. of N. C,,
Vol. 2, p 637). Isaac Hill married Margaret Jenningélon 28th
July 1708. (Reg. Christ Church, p 81).

Patent Bk. 3 (State Library, Riéhmond, Va.), p 258, John
Ashley and John Hamper given patent of 13800 acfeé for.trans-
porting 6 persons, March 10,.1653; p 422, John Ashley given 240
acres; p 280, John Ashley given 137 acres.

John Ashley patent for 137 acres adjacent Robert Briggs and
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Abya Bonnison & the Glebe lands, 20 Dec. 1669. John Ashley

assigns to Robert Briggs, 17 June 1671, Wits.: Richd Barber

& hen hastewood (sic). "“Recog. 11" (?) July 1671. Jane

Ashley gave Power of Attorney to Hugh Brant to acknowledge

sale to Briggs July 1671. (Fleet's Lancaster Co., Deeds,

p 53).
‘The miniature of "Lady Jane Cooper Ashley" was handed

down in‘thé.family of the Nathaniel Ashley who moved to Coffee
Co., Ga., Tt was burned in the home of Mrs. Dickey, Fairfield,
Gao |
= Nathéﬁiél Duckenfield ordered to keep a "Public Ferry"
from the Plantation whereon Ormes (?)‘now lives over Chowan
river to Edenibn, 1747. {Ashe!'s Iyibg. Hist, of N. C., Vol., 2,
p 629). This'Nathaniel died in Englaﬁd without issue before
1756, (0Olds Abst. of N. C. Wills, p 21). 1In records of 1772
is stated, however, "Sir‘Nathaniel Duckenfield is a young
gentleman of great worth.n (N.C. Col. Recs., Vol. 1). He
must have been the son of John Duckenfield;

THE TALIAFERRO FAMILY

Arms: Hand and arm holding dagger cuttimg bar,

Motto: Fortis et flrmis
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Tradition: Julius Ceasar while inspecting camp at twilight was
surrounded by Gallic warriors who were bent upon taking his
life, Ceasar so bravely comported himself that he won the ad-
miration of the leader of the band who refused to allow him to
be slain. Ceasar captured the band and, recognizing the man,
made him one of his personal attendants and let him bear arms--
a privilege for Roman soldiers only--and then the name Taliaferro
originated from the Latin "telum", a dart and "ferro" to bear.

4 branch went to Normandy thence to England under William
the Conqueror and became known aé "The Hero of Hastings".
William afterwards made him Baron Taliaferro in County Kent,
known as '"Earls of Pinnington'". After the Edict of Nantes, two
brothers James and John came to America and purchased estates
on the James.

John afterwards settled at Williamsburg at "Powhatan" and
was progenator of the family in Carolina and in Virginia,

Thére are a number of Je gends and traditions concerning the
origin of the Taliaferro family and the derivation of the name
nTaliaferro," One legend dates back to Julius Ceasar and his
campaign in Gaul in the year 58 B. C. A second is given in

Hume!s "History of England" where Tallifer was created Duke of
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Angouleme in 804 A. D. by Charles, the Bold, of France. His
dau. Isabelifaillifer married King John of England, who was
forced to sign the Magna Charta--(one of their daus. m. a -
Willis who was Chancellor of the Exchequer)--The third legend
is in "William the Conﬁuerér", by Phillips Russel. On p 153
the account of the troubadour Taillefer, personal friend of
William "the Conqueror" is given: Tallifer challenged the
Brittish at Hastings by riding out between the lines of the
cpposing forces, tossing his sword into the air and catching
it, and singing a song of Charlemégne,'of Roland and of Oliver
and his vassels;.who died at Roncesvales.
= A similar account is given by Hume in his "Hist. of
Eng." This Tailiefer was killed at Hastings. It is not known
if he left descendants. | |

In a criticism of the "Of Sceptred Race" by Annah
Robinson Watson, by the Editor of the Va. Mag. of Hist. and
Biog., Vol. 18, p 350, it is stated that surnames were not in
use in England until about 1250. Mr. W. B. McGroarty in W& M
(2) L, 191-3 gives some correspondence between Chancellor

Wythe and Thomas Jefferson, while the latter wés representing

the cclonies in ITt:ly. Chancellor Wythe had m., 2nd Elizabeth,
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dau., of Richard.and»Elizabeth (Eggleston) Tsilaferro OfA"Powhatan,"
Jas. City Co., Va., Richard's will of 1775 mentions his son-in-law,
George Wythe and wife, my dau. Elizabeth. Chéncellor Wythe had .
heard that his wife's family may have come originally from Italy, so
he asked Mr. Jefferson to investigate. The results do not appear to
have been conclusive, though it is said he secured their coat-of-
Arms.

Information from Mr. Jefferson from the ancient books of the
crown (Caronni) in Milan for Mr. Wythe, acc. to McGroarty on pp
196-8, of above Bartoloméo Taliaferro of Venice went to London
during the reign of Elizabeth (I.) and resided in the parish of ‘St.
Olaves. He dieé in 1602. His will is on file in‘Prerogativé Court,
Canterbury (s 29 ﬁontague).

2. Francais m. 1586, Elizabeth (d. 1610) at Bishop's Gate
(Brittish Record 2, Vol. 25, p LO7.

3. A son Francis, born in 1585 (?), whose son

i« Robert Taliaferro, Born 1635 came to Virginia 1655,
settling in Gloucester Co., where he married the dau. of Rev.
Charles Grymes.

Wythe, a Signer of the Decl. of Indep., spoke in his letters

to Mr, Jefferson of a Laurence Taliafecrro who wéht +6 Scotland in
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1560. On page 259 of a translation of Reum Scoticarum, by
Jémes Aikman, Esq. of Glasgow, it is stated that there was a
Léwrence Taliaferro in Scotland in 1513.

Mr., McGroarty leaned toward the Norman Conquest version,
Believing that the family adopted the motto, ""Talia ferrot
bestowed on the'troubadour by William the Conqueror, and that
it was later adopted as their name. Previous to 1066, the name

had been Taillefer,

‘Robert Talisferro, the emigrant, and founder of the family
in Va. was of English parentage, acc. to Hugh M. McIlhany in
"Some Va. Families" and is.considered the first in America. -
He came to Virginia from England in 16L5/6, -and is recorded
as witﬁessing a will in York Co. in 16,7. He patented land-in
Gloucester Co. in 1655, and 900 acres on Peropotank Creek in
1662;'which became known as "Attopotomy." He and Col. Lawrence
Smith patented 6300 acres, jointly, on the Rappahannock. The
statement is made that he had a brother John who came to Va.
also,

Robert married about 1653 Sarah or Mary, dau. of Rev.
Charles Grymes of "Grymesby" on the Planketank and of "Brandon

in Middlesex Co., (Early Settlers of Alabama, by Saunders).
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Robert Taliaferro's birth is given by some as 1626, and as
1635 by others. If he was the first in Va. and came in 161;5/6, the
earlier date would'appear more nearly correct. Saréh and Mary
Grymes are given as the wife of Robert Taliaferrb, Sf. Stannard
says only that she was a dau. of Rev. Charles Grymes. Mr., Mc-
Groarty gives his wife as Catherine Grymes, and that she was twice
married; lst to Robert Taliaferro and after his-aeath‘to Mr,
Dedman, and that Robert Taliaferro, Jr. knew her as "Grandmother
Dedman." In 16T16l, Mr._McGrdarty gives from-pagé 208, Essex Co,
records of date Aug. 1718 the following: "reiease of 600 acres
formerly granted Mr. Chas. Grymes Sept. L, 165L, ﬁhich.was by the
sd Charles Grymes willed to Catherine Dedmén, gfaﬁdmother of the sd
Robert Taliaferro." The UYsd Roberﬁ Taliaferro fefers to Robt.
Taliaferrc, Jr., son of Robert, Sr., as'given on p.206 of same
record, "Land Grants 1569-79", p LL5, Richmond Land Office shows
a grant of land from’Sir'William Berkeley to Robert Taliaferro, son
of Robert Taliaferro, Sr. of 739 acres in freshes of Rappahannock,
south side, adjoining-Henry“Coxhin.and Mr.’érymes,'i7 March 1672/3,
100 acrés-being his due as grandchiidé éf:yé'said Grymes. A deed
shows this to be Charles Grymes. 187163 and 27v18L/5.

From the above reccrds it would appear that the date of the
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birth of Charles Grymes! daughter who married Robert Talia-
ferro must have been earlier than 1660, the date given for the
birth of Sarah Grymes, 1f her grandchild, Robert Taliaferro,
Jr., was bcrn either in 166l, as given by McGroarty, or 1667,
as given elsewhare? was named as the recipient of the 100
acres of land in 1672/3. Mr. McG thought that Rev. Charles
grymes died in 1660 or 1661 and that his dau. was at that time
the wife of Robert Taliaferro.,

Mr. W. B. McGroarty--in 18T16L--also said that Robert
Taliaferro ana his Grymes wife had 7 children: the oldest-

1. Francis (léSh-l?lO, living in Gloucester Co. 1682,
Jusitice of Essex Co. in 1695,'m, Elizabeth, déu. of Col. John
Catlett of Essex Co., Va,

2. John (1656-1720), "The'Ranger", Justice of Essex Co.,
married Sarah, dau. of Maj. Lawrence Smith of Gloucester Co.

3. Charles (1663) Essex Co.

i, Richard (1665-1712) living in Richmond Co., 1710.

5. Mary (1658?)

6. Catherine, m. John Battaile. (Catherine b. 1660?)

7. Robert (1667-1726) m Sarah, dau. of Col. John Catlett,



[
GRYMES FAMILY

A tradition in the family of a Buckner Grimes, Staunton, Va.,

was that the first known Grimes was a2 coock on the ship of Sir
Francis Drake in the reign of the first Queen Eligzabeth.

Rev. Charles Grymes appears to have been the first Grymes in
Virginia, There were other families by that:name in Va., but not
known to be of the same line. A William Grymes, sén of Sir Thomas
Grymes of Peckham, England, was in Va. in 169,

One of the first records, if not the first, of Charles Grymes
gives his birth as the year 1612, This is in "Alumni Cantabri-
gienses," a biographical list of all students of the Univeréify of
Cambridge from earliest time to 1890, and reads, "Charlés Grymes
(Pembroke, aged-19, 1631), son of John Grymes, Rector of Ightham,
Kent,_wgg véry probably the man of that name who was ﬁinisier in
York and Gloucester Cos., Virginia, 16LL-1j6. There was a large
migration from Kent to Virginia at that time 33V219. The year
1612 as the birth year of Rev. Charles Grymes would glve weight
to the belief that his dau. who m. Robt. Tailiaferro was born
earlier than the year 1660,

Charles Grymes was known as the Rev. Charles Grymes of

"Brandon" and was officiating in York Co, as early as 16L42. He
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waé granted 2200 acres for transporting Ll persons to the Colony
of Va. dﬁring 1652-5);. He was the recipient of a Judgment in
York Co., Va., in 1651 and was clerk of Gloucester Co. (W. C.
Sténnard in 27v18l4-5,) He moved to Gloucester Co. late in life
and died there in 1660 or 61. He had two children: John of
"Brandon" and a dau. who m. Robert Taliaferro. Mr. McGroarty
believed this deu. to have been Catherine and that he had another

dau. named Mary. The son John is thought to have been born in

1610 and died 1709, aged 69 according to the Christ Church
Register,

John Grymes (d. 1709) of Brandon, married Alice, dau,
of Lawrence ahd Sarah (Warner) Townley. Alice was the granddau.
of Augustine and Mildred (Reade)'Warner. Their son John Grymes
(1691) m. Lucy (1698), dau. of Philip Ludwell, son of Philip
Ludwell & Lucyvﬁigginson, widow of Lewis 'Burwell and william

Bernard."
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MORE WILLIS FAMILY

MAY 1961. Recent research in the Virginia State
LIibrary and in Charleston, S. C. has unearthed the

following informgtion:

Richmond Co., Va., 1715,

Ihqthe Index to Court Order Books of King George
County, Va., in Bk. 4, p 460, 1is glven a refefence to
the marriage of Mary Willls, widow of John Willis (son
of zbove), died 1728 to John Jennings, under Adate of
March 5, 1761. Ref; Records K. G. on May 3, 1728. .As
given before, John, nephew bf this Jonhn Willis had
litigation.with John and-Mary Jennings,.

William Willis, son of the above Jéhn‘Willis (1715)
left two sons: John (will ih Orange.Co;, 1762), of
whom we have an almost complete record, éﬁd Williém.
.Willis; This Wiliiam Willis has not been found of re-
cord in King George,'Orange or Culpepér Cos., since he
was named in the will of hls mother Sarah‘Turberville,
1761.

A William Willis recelved a grant of 200 acres of

land on the Wateree river, South Carolina, 16 June 1760
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(Vol. 7, p 181) which he sold soon thereafter. Then we
find a William Willis's will recorded in Rutherford. Co.,

p 1) dated April 14, 1782, in which

Py

Horth Carolina (Bk. A4,
he nemes sons William and Jacob dec'd, and dau. Eliza-
beth Buckhana (sic); grandsons Arthur Buckhanan, William,
son of Jacob dec'd and this William's mother, Elizabeth
Willis, and Henry, son of sén, William. On Octe. 15,
1762, King George Coe, Va., (Bk. 4, D 501f a James Buck-
harnon witnessed a deed with Arther (sic) Morson. There
were ﬁo further records (after 1761) fouﬁd'in South Caro-
lina of the William of this grant on the Wateree. He
probébiy moved on northwéstérly and was the same who
died in Rutherford Co., N. C. and was also the soﬁ_of
§11liam W1lis and nis wife Sarah who died as Sarah
Turberville. |

The third SOn of thn'Willis, will 1715; was
Charles Willis, whose will or administration was pfo—
bably recorded in the first will book of King George
Co., which has been lost, for neither wili nor adminis-

tration was found recorded for him. This John ¥Willis

named a son of Charles named John in his will.
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This grandson, John Willls remzined.in King Geo.
Coey, as the following deeds will show: King Geo. Co.
Deed Bk. 2, p 142, March 2, 1736, John Willis., planter,
of Hanover Parish deeded to Isaac Pitman 60 acres along
the lines of Archibald Combs dec'd and Maj. Jeremizh
Murdock.s.sto Bristol Iron Works...to Branch..to land of
Isaac Pitman and land- of Ralph Wormley dec'd. land
formerly belonging to;Thomas'James, to small branch
which heads in the cornfield of the sd John Willis. 1In
the will of John Willis 1715, he bequeathed to son
Charles-- entailed to his sbn John--"t0 the sd Charles
excepting that vpart which I have heafby given unto -
Thomas James; and to Thomas James, he bequeathed "land
joyne upon the land of Mr..John Wormley..." Witnesses
to this deed were Thos. Dickeson (Dixon?) and Richard
Hornbuckle; vprice 50 L. N

King Geo. Co. Deed Bk. 3, p 499, John Willis, of
‘Hanover Parish, mortgaged 170 acres and three negroes
to the Exrs. of the estate of Harry Turner dec'd on
July 3, 1752, the debt to be paid by "Jan. lst next."

Wits.: William Jett, Frances.Jett, Chas. Deane and
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Wllliam Jett, Jr. Orders, Judgments, etc. 1751-1765,

p 115, a deed of mortgage from John Willis to Thomas
Turner,. Edward Dixon, John Tayloe and Thomas.Jett,
Gent., Exrs. of the will of Harry Turner dec'd was
proved by the oaths of Wm. Jett, Francis & Chas. Deane,
which is. ordered to.be recorded.

In the same Court Order Bk., p 148, Feb. 5, 1753,
an order qualifies. BEdward Dixon, Brother-in-law of
Harry Turner dec'd (and son-in-law of Thomas Turner)
to whose estate John Willls died as debter, this
mdward Dixon as Administrator of the estate of John
Willis dec'd. Thus John Willis died before he pald
off the mortgage on his property.

In the -same Order Bk., however, p 877, on Nov. 1,
1759, Elizabeth, widow of John Willis dec'd was allotted
her dower. This property, Elizabveth ¥Willls in her will
1767 bequeathed to her .son Francis .Willis. It seems
probable that wife Elizabeth was Elizabeth Jett, dau.
of Francis Jdette.

Francis Willis, ‘only known son of John end Eliza-

beth Willis of Kinz Geo. Co., Va., died intestate in

Culpeper Co. in 1789.



83

This Francils Willlis married a daughter of Ann
Marders (a Wm. Marders-wit. a. deed between Joseph Smith
and Wm. Rowley, Sr. in King Geo. Co. Oct. 1, 1745, Bk.
3, » 78) and had children: John, Charles, Francis and
Jane, as shown‘by the following deed:

Deed Bk. S, p 514, Culpeper Co., Va., Apr. 18,
1796, At a Court held in Culpepef Co., Ann Marders "for
the love " for her dau. Jane and grandchildren Ann Ward,
Sarah Monroe, John Willis, Charles Willls, Francils
Willis and Jane Willis deeds to them a slave, which she
states must not fall into the hands of William Poulter,
nusband of her dau. Jane. The deed was dated Nov. 14,
1795. |

Concerning these: In Culpeper Co., Va., Marriaces:
Jane Willis with William Poulter, Dec. 16, 1788

Jane Willis wlth Willliam Hisle in 1796 (the daugnter of
Francls and Jane) -

John Willls with Edna Bragg, Dec. 22, 1802
Charles Willis with ILucy Shelton, Jan. 16, 1794

Francis Willis dled without issue, will recorded in
Chatnam Coe., . Co

Charles VWillis, son of Joun, will 1715, had a
crandson named Wiliiam Willis. Deed Bk. 7, P 306, King

Geo. Co., Va., Dec. 4, 1784, "william Willis of the
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County of Fauquier and Hester hls Johnson' (the Clerk
evidently started to wr;te a relationship of these two
and then did not do’so) deed to Qeérge Marshall of
King Geo. Co. 178 acres in Hanover - Parish '"between
lands of Elizabeth Thornton, Murdock's estate and

George Marshalls," "as helr at law to his father

Charles Willis dec'd & his grandfather.” signed by

both William Willis and Hester (X) Johnson. . (Wit-

nesses to this deed were William Marsnell, John Monroe
(note: grdau. of Ann Marders), Geo. Marshall Jr. and
Jase. Marshall.) In King George Co., Va., Hester

Willis asked to be apnolnted admipistratrix of the
estate of Cherles VWillis. (Information from Mrf King.)
This seems to indicate that the first Charles Willis

had a son Cherles, who married Hester and

had the above son William Willis, of Fauquier Co.,
Va. Then Hester married 2nd a Johnson.

In Edcefield Cos, S. Ce., in Equity file # 314
in a suit over the esta te of Molly Rogers 1s the
following information: Molly Rogers.was a slister of

Sarah, Hester and Anna Hazel (Johnson) and of Joshua

Johnnson. Molly died in 1820/21. Molly's sister Sarah

lived with her. rester Johnson moved there in the
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Spring of 1826...S8ister Anna Hazel lived there for
several years before Hester's son, a grown man, lived
wlth his mother (son not named)."

Wnether or not these were children of Hester
Johnson, mother of William Willis end formerly widow of
Charles Willis 2nd or Hestér herself 1s not known.
However, 1t 1s a possibility, since no Ifurther records
of Hester Johnson have been found in Fauquier Co., Va.

This William ¥Willis might also have been the
father of the James Willis, who married Elizabeth
Wilson in Caroline Co., Va. and left his will recorded
in Chatham Co., N. C. in 1795, naming wife ZElizabeth and
sons Wilson, Larkin, EllJah and Elisha. He also must
have had a son, perhaps named Wiliiam, whose sons
mzarried in Albemarle Co., Va.: William Willls to Polly
Ballard, May 22, 1787 and John Willis to Mary Blnge,

May 19, 1794.
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